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 1 P R O C E E D I N G 

 2 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  We will reopen the

 3 hearing in Docket DE 10-261, PSNH's Least Cost In tegrated

 4 Resource Plan.  As we left yesterday afternoon, w e were

 5 about to begin cross-examination from Ms. Knowlto n of the

 6 Staff panel.  

 7 Is there anything before we begin that

 8 to address?  Mr. Speidel.

 9 MR. SPEIDEL:  Yes, Chairman Ignatius.

10 Mr. Peress informed the Office of the Consumer Ad vocate

11 and Staff that he will not be able to come to in to

12 today's hearing.  He sends his apologies.  He had  a number

13 of prior commitments, but he's confident that we can

14 handle the matter in his absence.  

15 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  Thank

16 you.  Anything else?

17 (No verbal response) 

18 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  If not, Ms.

19 Knowlton, are you ready?

20 MS. KNOWLTON:  Yes, I am.  Thank you.

21 Good morning.

22 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Good morning.

23 GEORGE R. McCLUSKEY, Previously sworn. 

24 EDWARD C. ARNOLD, Previously sworn. 
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 1 CROSS-EXAMINATION (Resumed) 

 2 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 3 Q. Good morning, Mr. Arnold.  I'm going to start w ith you

 4 this morning.

 5 A. (Arnold) Okay.

 6 Q. My understanding is that your firm was hired in  May of

 7 2011 by the Staff of the New Hampshire Public Uti lities

 8 Commission to work on this matter, is that right?

 9 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back to the contract, b ut that

10 date sounds right to me.

11 Q. Okay.  And, if you want to do that, we do have a copy

12 of the Statement of Work and Vendor Quote.  That' s your

13 contract, correct?

14 A. (Arnold) I believe so.  I don't have one handy with me.

15 Q. Okay.  I can show that you to you, -- 

16 A. (Arnold) Okay.

17 Q. If I may?

18 A. (Arnold) Sure.

19 Q. It's attached to Mr. Large's testimony, which i s PSNH

20 Exhibit 3, and it's attached to his testimony, Ba tes

21 Page 037.  Do you have that before you?

22 A. (Arnold) Yes.  Looks like I've got a "Statement  of Work

23 and Vendor Quote".

24 Q. Okay.  Is that the contract that you were hired
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 1 pursuant to?

 2 A. (Arnold) It's part of it.  It doesn't look like  the

 3 whole thing is here.

 4 Q. Can you look at that and tell me, identify for me

 5 what's missing?  What I have is, in my version, i s

 6 Bates Pages 037 through 040?

 7 A. (Arnold) Right.  Okay.  Let me see.  Here is

 8 "Background", "Statement of Work", "Schedule", "P roject

 9 Team", "Deliverables", "Vendor Quote".  What I do n't

10 see is, yes, the details of the budget estimates are

11 provided in the schedule below.  There is typical ly a

12 project schedule that goes with these.  And, then

13 there's --

14 MR. SPEIDEL:  That here?

15 WITNESS ARNOLD:  I can't see that from

16 here.  

17 MR. SPEIDEL:  And, let me just see if I

18 can assist you a little bit.

19 (Atty. Speidel showing document to 

20 Witness Arnold.) 

21 MR. SPEIDEL:  Okay.  I think --

22 WITNESS ARNOLD:  All right.

23 BY THE WITNESS: 

24 A. (Arnold) Yes.  This looked to be the initial wo rk
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 1 agreement.  There were subsequent work agreements  as

 2 the project progressed.

 3 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 4 Q. So, was the contract amended?

 5 A. (Arnold) It was -- what we did, I can't think o f the

 6 right word right now.  We, you know, the budget r an

 7 out, and we came to agreement on additional monie s to

 8 cover additional work that wasn't in this initial

 9 agreement.

10 Q. Okay.  Mr. Arnold, if you would look at Page --  if

11 you're looking at Mr. Large's rebuttal testimony,  the

12 page before that is Bates Page 036, and that cont ains

13 the Staff's response to PSNH Data Request 1-7.  D o you

14 see that, that page?

15 A. (Arnold) Yes.  This is Bates Page 036.

16 Q. You're correct.  Page 036.  And, do you see the re that

17 the Company was requesting copies of any engageme nt

18 letters or contracts associated with your work in  this

19 docket?

20 A. (Arnold) Right.

21 Q. And, what's attached to that data response is t he

22 contract that you have said is not the complete

23 version?

24 A. (Arnold) No, I didn't say that.
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 1 Q. Okay.

 2 A. (Arnold) I said that there were additional agre ements

 3 that added additional funds to the work agreement .

 4 Most of these were verbal, some were probably con firmed

 5 by e-mail.  

 6 Q. Okay.

 7 A. (Arnold) I wouldn't call those "contracts".

 8 Q. Were they amendments, though, to the provisions  in this

 9 agreement?

10 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Alex?  I don't know.

11 Would those be called "amendments"?

12 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'm actually --

13 Mr. Speidel can't testify here today.  So, I --

14 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Oh.  I don't know if

15 technically they are "amendments".  I'll tell you  exactly

16 what they were.

17 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

18 Q. Well, just before we do that, but it sounds lik e they

19 related to the terms of this contract?  It sounds  to me

20 like you were granted extensions of the -- the bu dget

21 was expanded?

22 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.

23 Q. Correct?  Okay.

24 A. (Arnold) Right.
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 1 Q. Do you know whether --

 2 A. (Arnold) And, I think that happened after this date,

 3 but I'm not sure.

 4 Q. Okay.  Do you know what time frame that was?

 5 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back and consult my not es.

 6 Q. Okay.  Do you know whether this, the Staff's re sponse

 7 to PSNH 1-7, was ever supplemented with informati on

 8 about those additions to this contract?

 9 A. (Arnold) No, I don't.

10 Q. Are you aware that, under the Commission's rule s, that

11 parties who respond to data requests have a legal

12 obligation to supplement responses as those -- as  more

13 information that's responsive to the request beco mes

14 known?

15 A. (Arnold) No, I'm not.  

16 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'd like to make a record

17 request -- 

18 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  If I could just add,

19 Commissioners?

20 MS. KNOWLTON:  Sure.

21 BY THE WITNESS: 

22 A. (McCluskey) That the only changes to the contra ct

23 related -- relate to the budget.  There were no

24 additional work requirements added to the contrac t for
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 1 Mr. Arnold.  We just got to a point, because of

 2 additional work to do with discovery, to do with

 3 attending hearings, that the initial budget ran o ut.

 4 We asked for an -- Mr. Arnold asked for an extens ion.

 5 We ran it by the managers at the Commission; they

 6 approved it.  And that, to my knowledge, is the o nly

 7 change that has occurred to this particular piece  of --

 8 to this particular piece of work.  So, there's no  scope

 9 of work changes were made.

10 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

11 Q. Mr. McCluskey, can you tell me how many hours w ere

12 added to the contract?

13 A. (McCluskey) Not at this moment.  I forget the a ctual

14 dollar amount.  The Commission has a contract wit h

15 other members of the Jacobs team.  And, I believe  the

16 budget that was approved for that much larger pie ce of

17 work, it was agreed that Mr. Arnold could charge his

18 additional time, in excess of the initial budget,  to

19 that separate contract for Jacobs' work.

20 MS. KNOWLTON:  The Company would make a

21 record request that the Staff provide a supplemen tal

22 response to PSNH 1-7, and provide a complete -- a ny

23 additions or amendments or changes to the Vendor Statement

24 of Work, in whatever form it takes, whether it's e-mail
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 1 exchanges or if it relates to another Jacobs cont ract, to

 2 provide whatever documentation you have of that.

 3 MR. SPEIDEL:  Staff would like to state

 4 that it does not necessarily believe that such a

 5 supplemental response would be legally required b y this

 6 proceeding, given the stage at which we find ours elves,

 7 and the fact that discovery had proceeded for a n umber of

 8 weeks and months.  And, I'm not exactly certain a s to

 9 whether the additional engagement information cam e in

10 after discovery had concluded.  However, Staff is  willing

11 to provide such information to the Company as a r ecord

12 request in the interest of comity and in the inte rest of

13 cooperating with the Company and its inquiry.

14 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Thank you for the

15 response.  We will -- I'll grant that record requ est.  It

16 would be "PSNH 16".

17 (PSNH Exhibit 16 reserved) 

18 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, what I do want

19 to clarify is, Ms. Knowlton, are you looking for dollar

20 figures?  Are you looking for hours expended?

21 MS. KNOWLTON:  Both.  I want to

22 understand, you know, what -- it sounds like the scope of

23 work did not change, but the total, you know, if there's

24 an extension of the amount of the budget that was
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 1 approved, hours, the number of hours, you know, a llocated

 2 per task.  It sounded like, from what Mr. McClusk ey said,

 3 that it may be that there's another contract betw een

 4 Jacobs and the Commission.  And, if it was done t hrough

 5 that contract, then we would ask that that contra ct be

 6 provided, so that we have a full understanding of  what the

 7 nature of the engagement is.

 8 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, I'm granting

 9 it with the understanding that it's seeking the a uthorized

10 amounts to be expended, whether it's calculated i n terms

11 of hours or dollars, between the initial contract  or the

12 other Jacobs contract for general engineering ser vices.

13 If you're asking for invoices for actual

14 work done, --

15 MS. KNOWLTON:  No.

16 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  -- we're not going

17 there.  But --

18 MS. KNOWLTON:  Yes.  No, that's fine.

19 We don't need that.

20 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Mr. Patch?  

21 MR. PATCH:  I would like to make a

22 record request that PSNH provide the total expend itures

23 for the Levitan Associates.

24 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'm going to object to
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 1 that request.  I mean, we don't, first of all, ha ve a

 2 Levitan witness on the stand.  Certainly, Mr. Pat ch could

 3 have asked that question long ago, if he had want ed, in

 4 discovery, or when Mr. Levitan and Dr. Carlson or  Mr.

 5 Large or Mr. Smagula were on the stand, and the t ime is,

 6 in my view, long past for that.

 7 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Mr. Patch, your

 8 response?

 9 MR. PATCH:  I think, in the interest of

10 ratepayers, transparency would be appropriate her e.

11 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, her issue that

12 "that could have been asked while they were on th e stand"?

13 MR. PATCH:  I mean, she's right.  It

14 could have been asked.  It wasn't.  I think there  was some

15 information provided, perhaps at a technical sess ion,

16 might have been on the first day, with regard to some

17 total amount that I remember.  And, somebody may be able

18 to back me up on that?

19 MR. SPEIDEL:  That's correct, Mr. Patch.

20 As I recall, Mr. Large made a comment as to the t otal

21 amount spent, and that's within the transcript of  this

22 hearing record at the present time.  So, at least  we have

23 that figure to go on.  I don't believe that we've  received

24 a full accounting of the amount of money spent by  the
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 1 Company's consultant, but there was that estimate  provided

 2 on the first day of hearing.

 3 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  We'll

 4 take the request under advisement and discuss it when we

 5 have a break.

 6 MS. HOLLENBERG:  And, if I might just

 7 add?

 8 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Yes.

 9 MS. HOLLENBERG:  I would support, to the

10 extent that we're looking into consultant costs, I

11 certainly support, you know, disclosure of all co nsultant

12 costs.

13 MS. KNOWLTON:  I just would like to

14 state for the record that I think it's a dangerou s

15 precedent to go back and to allow parties to seek

16 information, you know, through the forms of recor d

17 requests or otherwise, in parts of the hearing th at

18 essentially have been concluded.  I mean, if that 's the

19 case, you know, I certainly would like to go back  and ask

20 some other record requests and questions on topic s that

21 there's been discovery on.  I can tell you, and t he reason

22 why I'm asking this line of questioning, is, you know, not

23 that I have any criticism of the total dollar amo unt that

24 was spent.  I'm trying to understand the scope of  effort
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 1 that was undertaken.  And, so, you know, all I ha ve to

 2 work with today is what was provided in response to PSNH

 3 1-7.  So -- but I do think it's really a very dan gerous

 4 place for the Commission to go, to reopen matters  that,

 5 where witnesses have been taken off the stand and  the

 6 matter has been concluded.  So, you know, I'll of fer those

 7 thoughts as well.

 8 MR. SPEIDEL:  Well, just to reiterate,

 9 as far as the Staff inquiry here goes, reserving the right

10 to disagree with the characterization of the resp onse to

11 Staff 1-7, well, actually, it would be a Company data

12 request, as "legally insufficient", we are willin g to

13 comply with the record request.

14 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  We'll take the

15 second question of Mr. Patch under advisement.  L et's move

16 on.

17 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

18 Q. I'll direct this question, actually, to Mr. McC luskey

19 or to Mr. Arnold.  With regard to the existing co ntract

20 with Jacobs, for the other matter that they have been

21 engaged on with regard to the Commission, do you know

22 whether Jacobs has a nondisclosure agreement with

23 Public Service of New Hampshire with regard to th at

24 matter.
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 1 A. (McCluskey) I don't.

 2 Q. Okay.  Mr. Arnold?

 3 A. (Arnold) I do not.

 4 Q. Would you accept subject to check that, in fact , there

 5 is an NDA between PSNH and Jacobs, with regard to  that

 6 matter, which is the scrubber docket?

 7 A. (McCluskey) Subject to check, yes.

 8 Q. Okay.  Mr. Arnold, when did you start -- first start

 9 working on this matter?

10 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back to the contract an d see.

11 This was quite a long time ago.

12 (Short pause.) 

13 BY THE WITNESS:  

14 A. (Arnold) In April of 2011.

15 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

16 Q. And, at the time that you were hired, were you aware

17 that PSNH had submitted a CUO of Newington Statio n back

18 in September of 2010?

19 A. (Arnold) At the time I was hired?

20 Q. Yes.

21 A. (Arnold) I -- Yes.  I believe that came up in t he

22 initial conversations between myself and George a nd

23 Alex, and some other individuals here at the Publ ic

24 Utility Commission.  They gave me background on t he
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 1 project as we were -- as they were deciding if I was

 2 the right person, and I was deciding if I was the  right

 3 person and wanted to do the job.

 4 Q. Did you ever look at the order that the Commiss ion

 5 issued that required the conduct of the CUO?

 6 A. (Arnold) I don't remember ever looking at the o riginal

 7 statement.  However, I think, in a conversation, George

 8 reviewed that with me early on in the project.

 9 A. (McCluskey) If I could, we did actually send a copy of

10 the order as an attachment to an e-mail to Mr. Ar nold

11 prior to his engagement.

12 Q. Mr. Arnold, would you take subject to check tha t that

13 order didn't contain any requirements that the CU O be

14 premised on any certain type of data set or data

15 inputs?

16 A. (Arnold) Yes, subject to check.

17 Q. And, would you also accept subject to check tha t that

18 order didn't specify any particular method of ana lysis?

19 A. (Arnold) Subject to check, yes.

20 Q. Did you provide any guidance to the Staff about  the

21 review that you thought should be done of the CUO ?

22 A. (Arnold) In terms of the review of the CUO, cor rect?

23 Q. That's correct.

24 A. (Arnold) Yes, I did.
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 1 Q. Actually, I want to go back a minute.  You indi cated

 2 that you were hired in April of 2011.  That that' s when

 3 you began the work.  I know that the Vendor Quote

 4 wasn't signed until May.

 5 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.

 6 Q. But you began in April?

 7 A. (Arnold) I began some work in April.

 8 Q. Did you -- there was a March 30th technical ses sion in

 9 this case.  Did you attend that technical session ?

10 A. (Arnold) I attended one technical session here.   I

11 can't remember the exact date.  I'd have to go ba ck to

12 my notes.

13 Q. Would you accept subject to check that it occur red on

14 March 30th?

15 A. (Arnold) Yes, subject to check.

16 Q. When you were -- at the time that you were enga ged, did

17 the Staff of the Commission give you any guidance  about

18 the review that they were seeking to have you do?

19 A. (Arnold) Yes.  They gave me guidance.

20 Q. What did they tell you?

21 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back to my notes to rem ember

22 exactly what the guidance was.  But, in general, what I

23 was asked to do was to tell them whether or not t he

24 model used in the study would accurately represen t the
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 1 value of the Newington asset into the future, whe ther I

 2 could be absolutely certain it was mistake-free,

 3 whether I could duplicate the results myself, and

 4 whether I was completely happy with the output.

 5 Q. Was that -- who did you talk to on the Staff?  Who

 6 provided that guidance to you?

 7 A. (Arnold) George McCluskey.

 8 Q. You're employed by Jacobs Consultancy, correct?

 9 A. (Arnold) Correct.

10 Q. What does Jacobs Consultancy specialize in?

11 A. (Arnold) Jacobs Consultancy specializes in a nu mber of

12 technical consulting areas and financial consulti ng

13 areas.  And, I'm going to assume you're talking a bout

14 the energy, chemicals, and petrochemicals practic e, of

15 which I am a part, because there are many other

16 subpractices of Jacobs Consultancy.  Can I assume  that?

17 Q. Yes.  That would be good.  Thank you.

18 A. (Arnold) Okay.  That narrows it down considerab ly.  We

19 specialize in -- I can give you examples, but we

20 provide due diligence to investors, to banks.  We

21 specialize in evaluating work that other entities  have

22 performed.  We will do this for investors, we wil l do

23 this for the entities themselves, to prepare them selves

24 for due diligence sessions.  We'll work for gover nment
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 1 agencies to do studies that will help set policy.

 2 Sometimes we're asked to build custom models for

 3 commercial organizations or government entities, that

 4 they will use for planning purposes, to help them  make

 5 decisions about investment, divestment, or how --

 6 whether they should close down an asset, sell it,  or

 7 enlarge it.  We will offer advice on contract str ucture

 8 to private entities.  We will offer advice on mar ket

 9 scenario development.  And, reluctantly, we will

10 develop forecasts.  I say "reluctantly", we prefe r

11 "scenarios", versus "forecasts".  But -- 

12 Q. What's the difference between a "scenario" and a

13 "forecast"?

14 A. (Arnold) A "forecast" is typically a prediction  of

15 where a certain value, such as a price, will be h eaded

16 in the future.  It's usually a single string of v alues

17 into the future.  I'm giving the typical definiti on.

18 And, based on the preparer's best understanding, best

19 guesses, best beliefs and opinions about where al l the

20 driving forces for that price are going.  

21 A "scenario", on the other hand,

22 typically comes as a group of scenarios.  And, wh at it

23 will attempt to do is bracket the entire range of  the

24 possible for a particular price.  So that, in tot al,
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 1 the delivery of three or four scenarios will give  the

 2 client a feel for where the particular price or p rice

 3 ratio or spread could be headed into the future.  And,

 4 each --

 5 Q. And, can I just interrupt you for a second?  Wh en you

 6 were referring to that, do you mean for something  like

 7 natural gas?

 8 A. (Arnold) Yes.

 9 Q. Okay.

10 A. (Arnold) And, each scenario -- each scenario wi ll be

11 defined on the basis of a particular environmenta l -- a

12 set of particular environmental drivers.  As an

13 example, what some consultants will do is talk ab out

14 " status quo" as being their first scenario.  And, what

15 that often means is, the current conditions in th e

16 macro economic environment persist and the politi cal

17 environment and the policy environment persist ou t in

18 the years of the forecast.  If that happens, they  will

19 say "okay, these will be the prices and the price

20 ratios."  Then, there will be what they might cal l a

21 "mark" -- growth -- "high growth scenario".  And,  I'm

22 just thinking of one I read recently.  A high gro wth

23 minimal policy change scenario, and that will be one

24 where there are minimal new policies connected to
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 1 greenhouse growth -- excuse me, greenhouse gas

 2 abatement and high economic growth.  And, they wi ll

 3 deliver a set of alternative prices and ratios fo r that

 4 scenario, and so on and so on.  And, then, there could

 5 be a low growth of high greenhouse gas abatement

 6 scenario.

 7 Q. What kind of information do you and your collea gues

 8 rely on to develop either those forecasts or thos e

 9 scenarios?

10 A. (Arnold) We rely on information from the market s.  We

11 follow most of the markets.  We have a lot of -- and,

12 we have offices all over the world, and we get in put

13 from a lot of our clients and a lot of the

14 price-setting points all over the world.  You kno w, it

15 depends on what we're talking about, whether it's  coal,

16 natural gas, oil.  And, we'll rely on other

17 consultants' input, some public domain, some priv ate,

18 always with permission.

19 Q. When you refer to "private" sources of input, I 'm

20 interested, are there any private sources of inpu t that

21 you use when you -- when you're trying to follow the

22 market and where the market prices are going?

23 A. (Arnold) Yes.

24 Q. Can you tell me what those are?
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 1 A. (Arnold) Okay.  I'm likely not to remember all of them,

 2 because there are many.  But, some of the more co mmon

 3 private sources of input are input from, as far a s

 4 prices go, Platts, Opus, ISIS, CMAI, Herman Gertz , some

 5 special newsletters from other consultants.

 6 Q. Are those essentially data services that your c ompany

 7 subscribes to?

 8 A. (Arnold) Some are.  Some are one-time requests.

 9 Actually, and then some are developed with our co mpany.

10 We participate with a number of other companies, in

11 fact, some of the organizations I mentioned, we

12 actually help them develop their price sets, thei r

13 ratios.  And, by and large, most of these are not

14 forecasts.  This is historical data that I'm talk ing

15 about.  

16 Now, forecast is another issue.  We

17 develop all our own forecasts.  Not in total, but  what

18 we do is, as I mentioned yesterday, I believe, we  use

19 composite forecasts.  And, we like to transfer th ose

20 into scenarios.  But almost most of the people th at

21 provide these call them "forecasts".  The way the y're

22 defined, though, you can almost turn every scenar io

23 into a forecast -- every forecast into a scenario ,

24 because, when a good forecast is defined, there w ill be
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 1 a basis provided.  "We assume this, this, and thi s."

 2 And, on that basis, the gas price, the oil price is

 3 going to be -- the ratio between the two will be that.

 4 So, we actually will try to bracket the forecasts  to

 5 use in the scenarios.  So, we'll take forecasts f rom

 6 different sources and bring them into a weighted

 7 forecast.  We have found that that is quite accur ate,

 8 when we do historical evaluations of forecasts ve rsus

 9 the future.  What we find, just in simple terms, is

10 that the wisdom of the -- of the masses is superi or, in

11 the long term, to any single forecast.  It's quit e

12 interesting how well these composite forecasts wi ll do.

13 Q. And, those proprietary sources of data that you  use,

14 are they subject to terms and conditions for how the

15 data can be used?

16 A. (Arnold) Yes, they are.

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. (Arnold) I think, in almost every case, they ar e, yes.

19 And, they differ from provider to provider.

20 Q. Mr. Arnold, I'd like to show you a Staff respon se to a

21 data request that was filed in this case.  

22 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'd like to mark this for

23 identification as "PSNH" --

24 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  It would be "17".
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 1 MS. KNOWLTON:  -- "17".  Thank you.

 2 (Atty. Eaton distributing documents.) 

 3 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  We'll

 4 mark for identification, this is a Staff response  to PSNH

 5 1-24 for identification as "PSNH 17".

 6 (The document, as described, was 

 7 herewith marked as PSNH Exhibit 17 for 

 8 identification.) 

 9 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

10 Q. Looking at this -- looking at this response,

11 Mr. Arnold, you'll see that the Company was askin g you

12 in discovery to "provide a copy of all the studie s that

13 had been performed by Staff or Jacobs since

14 January 1st, 2010 that project or discuss future oil

15 product and natural gas prices."  Do you see that  in

16 the question?

17 A. (Arnold) Yes, I do.

18 Q. And, would you just, if you look at your respon se to

19 Part (c), isn't it true that Jacobs indicated her e that

20 "The studies that [it] performed that you're awar e of

21 are part of commercially confidential reports [th at

22 are] prepared for clients", and you thus declined  to

23 provide them?

24 A. (Arnold) You asked for "copies of all studies p erformed
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 1 by Staff or Jacobs since January 1, 2010 that pro ject

 2 or discuss future oil product and natural gas pri ces."

 3 Yes.  I did say that these studies were -- I'll r epeat

 4 what I said:  "The studies performed by Jacobs fo r this

 5 period that Mr. Arnold is aware of are part of

 6 commercially confidential reports prepared for

 7 clients."

 8 Q. If you would go back to the Statement of Work, that's

 9 the document that's attached to Mr. Large's rebut tal

10 testimony.

11 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Let me find it.

12 Q. If you can get that before you.

13 A. (Arnold) Okay.  I'm looking at the Statement of  Work.

14 Q. All right.  I'm going to apologize, go back and  ask one

15 question more on the data sources before we get t o the

16 Statement of Work.  You gave me a list of sounds like

17 at least some of the data sources that your compa ny

18 has, and Platts was one of those on the list.  

19 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.

20 Q. Would you accept subject to check that -- that the

21 Platts database does include historic Dracut dail y spot

22 prices?

23 A. (Arnold) No, not the Platts database that we pu rchase.

24 I've looked, believe me.  I wanted to find those.   I
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 1 was hoping it had.  

 2 Q. Uh-huh.

 3 A. (Arnold) But it didn't.  We subscribe to, you k now,

 4 narrow versions of Platts data.

 5 Q. Did you check with the rest of them to see whet her any

 6 of the other -- 

 7 A. (Arnold) Oh, yes.

 8 Q. -- those other databases, you checked them all?

 9 A. (Arnold) We checked them all.  Absolutely.  I w as

10 looking hard for that.

11 Q. All right.  Looking at the Statement of Work, y ou have

12 that in front of you, I presume?

13 A. (Arnold) Yes, I do.

14 Q. Okay.  Looking on Page 1, under the "Scope", it  says

15 that "Jacobs will first determine and then evalua te how

16 the LAI modeling system works including understan ding

17 and evaluating:  Each proprietary model, the inpu ts and

18 outputs to those models, add how the various mode ls

19 interact."  Is that right?

20 A. (Arnold) That's correct.

21 Q. And, some of the inputs that went into the mode l were

22 developed by Levitan & Associates, correct?

23 A. (Arnold) That's what I remember reading, that t hey did

24 develop some of the inputs, yes.
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 1 Q. And, did that include the energy price forecast ?

 2 A. (Arnold) Let's see.  Well, energy, versus fuels , I

 3 believe so, yes.

 4 Q. And, the cost of SO2 emissions?

 5 A. (McCluskey) If I could just add, that the input s for

 6 the model, some were developed by Levitan, some o f the

 7 inputs came from PSNH.  As regards to the CO2

 8 emissions, I believe the model did use values ext racted

 9 from some source, extracted by Levitan.  That's

10 correct.

11 Q. Okay.  Mr. Arnold, are you familiar, prior to y our work

12 here on this matter, are you familiar with the Le vitan

13 firm?

14 A. (Arnold) No, I was not.

15 Q. Would you accept subject to check that, under M r.

16 Levitan's direction, that Levitan & Associates

17 developed all of the energy, capacity, and REC pr ice

18 forecasts used by the four electric distribution

19 utilities in Massachusetts for purposes of procur ement

20 of renewable energy under the Green Communities A ct?

21 MR. SPEIDEL:  That seems like a little

22 bit of an irrelevant question to this proceeding.

23 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Ms. Knowlton.

24 MS. KNOWLTON:  I think it is relevant.
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 1 I mean, --

 2 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Okay.

 3 MS. KNOWLTON:  -- the Levitan firm

 4 provided the price forecasts.  And, I'm just tryi ng to

 5 understand the extent of Mr. Arnold's awareness - -

 6 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, I think he

 7 already answered that question, that he wasn't aw are of

 8 the firm prior to this engagement.

 9 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.

10 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

11 Q. All right.  If you turn to Page 3 of this State ment of

12 -- under this Statement of Work and Vendor Quote.

13 A. (Arnold) Okay.  I'm there.

14 Q. Actually, I apologize.  It's Page 2 of the Stat ement of

15 Work and Vendor Quote.  Do you have that before y ou?

16 A. (Arnold) Yes, I do.

17 Q. Okay.  The second paragraph says that, under th is

18 contract, you were to evaluate the LAI model by d oing

19 the following:  "Reviewing and analyzing the vari ous

20 written and verbal descriptions of LAI's modeling

21 system provided in the LCIRP, at technical sessio ns,

22 and in response to discovery,... visit LAI's offi ces to

23 interview the developers and operators of [LAI's]

24 modeling system with the goal of resolving all
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 1 remaining queries.  Jacobs' evaluation of LAI's

 2 modeling system will also be informed by a back-c asting

 3 exercise conducted by LAI".  And, that "back-cast ing

 4 exercise will require LAI to feed the 2009 and 20 10

 5 data into its model...In addition to overseeing a nd

 6 analyzing LAI's back-casting work, Jacobs will re view

 7 and approve the data used to conduct the exercise ."  Do

 8 those statements accurately capture your agreed u pon

 9 scope of work.

10 (Witness Arnold conferring with Witness 

11 McCluskey.) 

12 BY THE WITNESS: 

13 A. (Arnold) I agree with this statement in the -- this is

14 what was written in the Work and Vendor Quote.

15 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

16 Q. Did LAI provide you with written and verbal

17 descriptions of the modeling system?

18 A. (Arnold) Yes.  They did.

19 A. (McCluskey) In fact, I'd like to add that we di d

20 actually request --

21 Q. And, actually, can I -- my questions right now,  my

22 questions are focused on Mr. Arnold.

23 MR. SPEIDEL:  But we did have, during

24 the Company's panel, some to-and-fro between Mr. Levitan
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 1 and Dr. Carlson in particular.  So, I think it's

 2 appropriate for Mr. McCluskey to add a few though ts on the

 3 question.  We're trying to answer the question as

 4 thoroughly and as completely as possible.

 5 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Ms. Knowlton, is

 6 there some reason why you need to do it in two st ages, and

 7 have us go back and ask the same questions, eithe r from

 8 you or from someone else, --

 9 MS. KNOWLTON:  Right.  I mean, the

10 reason why I'm focusing these questions on Mr. Ar nold is

11 that he's produced an expert report in this case,  which is

12 Exhibit 9 to the Staff's testimony.  And, I want to ask

13 that that was not -- my understanding is that rep ort was

14 not co-authored, that it was a report solely of M r.

15 Arnold.  And, so, I need to ask him some question s to

16 understand, you know, what he -- the work that he  did that

17 resulted in the -- with the culmination of that e xpert

18 report.

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  I'll

20 allow as to his inputs, his preparation in that r eport, I

21 think that's fine.  As to sort of the larger Staf f

22 positions, which really are a blend, I think, the n I think

23 the chiming in from either side is fair.  But, as  to that

24 particular issue, we'll limit it to Mr. Arnold on ly.
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 1 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 2 Q. Mr. Arnold, did you interview the developers an d

 3 operators at LAI's offices?

 4 A. (Arnold) Yes.

 5 Q. Do you recall that, when you visited LAI's offi ces in

 6 Boston, that Dr. Carlson offered to provide you w ith a

 7 code walk overview tour through the various proce dures

 8 in the Newington dispatch model?

 9 A. (Arnold) Yes.

10 Q. And, you declined that offer, right?

11 A. (Arnold) For good reason.  Could I explain my r eason?

12 Q. Sure.

13 A. (Arnold) Okay.

14 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  If I could just have

15 a conversation with you.

16 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, if he's having

17 trouble answering the question, I think that's fi ne.  But

18 I think it would be better to have the witness sp eak to

19 what he knows first.

20 BY THE WITNESS: 

21 A. (Arnold) Okay.  As I mentioned earlier, what I was

22 asked to provide was answers to these types of

23 questions.  And, these questions came up after th e

24 Statement of Work was written, when we all came t o
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 1 understand the situation better.  But what I was asked

 2 to do was answer these questions:  "Are you total ly

 3 confident that the output of the model is accurat e and

 4 mistake-free?  Could you duplicate these results,

 5 within reason?  Are you happy with what you're se eing?

 6 Do the results accurately represent the value of that

 7 asset into the future?"

 8 To do that, what I know from experience

 9 is that seeing code from a model doesn't help me answer

10 those questions.  I have seen code written many t imes,

11 I have seen descriptions of models written many t imes.

12 But it's not until I can actually play with the m odel

13 myself, and test it and probe it, that I am confi dent

14 that there's no issues within the model, and that  it is

15 an accurate representation, that it is free of ma terial

16 mistakes.

17 Just looking at code doesn't tell me how

18 they -- those pieces of code interact in the mode l.

19 And, what I'm looking for is more than code.  Whe re I

20 often find issues in models is in calculations, i t's in

21 data pulls.  There's complex conversions in these

22 models.  Data is being pulled from many places in

23 different directions.  Especially when you're doi ng

24 Monte Carlo type work, that's the stochastic aspe ct of
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 1 the model, there's a number of ways that things c an go

 2 wrong.  For example, input distributions can be

 3 truncated incorrectly, if they should be truncate d at

 4 all.  Data can be pulled incorrectly from input

 5 distributions.  There could be a lack of correlat ion

 6 when there should be correlation, etcetera.  So, my

 7 experience has told me that I can't depend totall y on

 8 descriptions and code to answer those questions t hat I

 9 was given.

10 Q. So, I want to make sure I understand your testi mony

11 correctly.  So, what you're saying is, is that th e only

12 way that you could have answered those questions,  which

13 we're not specified in the Statement of Work, was  to

14 have physical access to the model?

15 A. (Arnold) Yes.  And, when I say "direct physical

16 access", "direct physical/direct personal access" , what

17 that usually means is, I'm able to work at the cl ient's

18 site, the producer site, depending on the situati on, in

19 this case it would be the model producer site, an d I

20 can put my information into the model, I can look  at it

21 stepwise, I can do all the transformations that t hey do

22 and see if I get the same results.  I mean, it's

23 actually a two-step process.  The first thing I d o is

24 just see if I can get the same results they do.  And,
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 1 by the way, by doing this, I often get around the  data

 2 issue, myself and my group.  Because what we're a ble to

 3 do is put our data in there that we have rights t o, and

 4 so that there's usually, if there ever was initia lly a

 5 data issue, we get around that.  But I just bring  that

 6 up as an aside.

 7 Now, so, first thing I do is see if I'm

 8 using the right model, because often that's not t he

 9 case.  The model has been improved or it's been

10 changed, so we have to straighten that out.  Once  I am

11 using the same model that they use to get the res ults

12 that I'm supposed to validate, I will test it oft en.

13 And, there's a number of ways that we do that.  

14 I mean, just to be quick and simple, one

15 of the key things we do is a sensitivity test to make

16 sure that makes sense.  Another thing we do is te st the

17 model at the extremes of the distributions, just to see

18 if we're getting results.  We'll look at things a t

19 intermediate steps to see if we agree with the re sults.

20 And, then, I'll talk to the people.  If I am not an

21 expert in the subject matter of the model, you kn ow, a

22 high-level expert, I will go to somebody like Geo rge

23 and say "George, give me some things that you wou ld

24 expect here."  And, I'll give him some suggestion s,
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 1 things I should look for in the model, and I will  do

 2 that.  And, George will say "Well, in general, if  this

 3 happens, we should see this.  If that happens and  this

 4 happens in concert, this type of a thing should o ccur."

 5 So, those are the kind of things I look for.

 6 Q. And, there's nothing in the Statement of Work a nd

 7 Vendor Quote that says that you will have that ki nd of

 8 access, physical access to the model, right?

 9 A. (Arnold) No, there isn't.  I mean, that's not u ncommon

10 --

11 Q. And, so, you -- let me just --

12 A. (Arnold) Okay.

13 Q. And, so, you signed a contract that did not hav e a

14 description in it of what you needed to do then,

15 correct?

16 A. (Arnold) I did not sign a contract -- I didn't sign

17 this.

18 Q. I'm sorry, your firm?

19 A. (Arnold) Right.  That's right.  This was a high -level,

20 our best guess at what would be required to answe r the

21 questions.  That's often the case.  Until you get  into

22 the meat of the problem, you don't know how to so lve

23 the problem.

24 Q. Now, at that visit that you made to LAI's offic e, that
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 1 was in June 2011, I believe?

 2 A. (Arnold) That sounds right.

 3 Q. Subject to check, I believe it was June 3rd?

 4 A. (Arnold) Okay.  There were two visits.

 5 Q. Do you --

 6 A. (Arnold) I have --

 7 Q. Would you accept subject to check whether June 3rd was

 8 the first one?

 9 A. (Arnold) Yes.  I will.  

10 WITNESS ARNOLD:  And, can I ask a

11 question about "subject to check"?

12 MS. KNOWLTON:  Sure.

13 WITNESS ARNOLD:  If I don't check, and

14 it turns out these dates are wrong, what happens?

15 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  I think it's fair to

16 say that they're not tricks.  These are, you know , we're

17 holding you to those being your best understandin g of the

18 facts, and rather than having to go searching, th at it's

19 --

20 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Okay.  Just trying to

21 keep out of trouble.

22 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Okay.

23 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.  So, I'd like to

24 mark for identification as "PSNH 18" an e-mail, a nd which
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 1 actually contains -- has attached to it an agenda  for that

 2 meeting on June 3rd, 2011, at the LAI offices.

 3 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Okay.

 4 (Atty. Eaton distributing documents.) 

 5 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 6 Q. Do you have that document before you?

 7 A. (Arnold) Yes, I do.

 8 Q. I see that you're actually not copied on the e- mail.

 9 So, I understand that you may have not been famil iar

10 with that --

11 A. (Arnold) Oh, I certainly saw this as the meetin g was

12 starting.

13 Q. Okay.  And, is the agenda something that you've  seen

14 before?

15 A. (Arnold) George is pointing out that I was copi ed on

16 the e-mail.

17 Q. Oh, you are.  Thank you.  

18 A. (Arnold) Right.

19 Q. Yes, I see that.

20 A. (Arnold) So, yes.

21 Q. Okay.

22 A. (Arnold) In fact, I probably had something to d o with

23 developing this.

24 Q. Okay.  Did you help write it?
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 1 A. (Arnold) I imagine I did.

 2 Q. And, what was, in your words, the purpose of th is

 3 meeting?

 4 A. (Arnold) Okay.  To see if the model would arriv e near

 5 2010 actuals, using the actual data that we had f or

 6 prices.  And, it turned out this morphed a little  bit.

 7 We actually incorporated some forecasts into the

 8 back-casts.

 9 Q. Okay.  So, this was the back-casting that was

10 contemplated by the Statement of Work that LAI wa s to

11 perform?

12 A. (Arnold) Essentially.  You see, let me give you  some

13 background.  This Statement of Work is almost

14 boilerplate for me in these situations.  I am hop ing

15 that it's adequate.

16 But, in this case, when I saw the

17 historical results on energy net revenues being m ost of

18 the time below the zero line, and then I saw the model

19 producing results up around -- hold on, please --  up

20 close to $20 million a year --

21 MR. SPEIDEL:  Now, Mr. Arnold, are you

22 referring to your own report at the present time?

23 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Yes, I am.

24 MR. SPEIDEL:  Okay.  So, we can all take
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 1 a look at Staff Exhibit 1, --

 2 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 3 Q. Well, actually, my question, and I don't think this is

 4 responsive to my question, which is, I thought, a

 5 simple one.  Which is, the Statement of Work incl udes a

 6 provision in it that there would be a "back-casti ng

 7 exercise that would require LAI to feed 2009 and 2010

 8 data into the model."  And that, "in addition to

 9 overseeing and analyzing [the] back-casting work,

10 [that] Jacobs will review and approve the data us ed to

11 conduct the exercise."  So, my question is just, this

12 meeting was about that back-casting exercise that  was

13 described in the Statement of Work, correct?

14 A. (Arnold) This Statement of Work here covers thi s

15 back-casting exercise, yes.  

16 Q. Okay.  All right.  And, so, I just want to ask you some

17 questions about that back-casting exercise.

18 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, before you go

19 further, did -- we haven't marked this.  Are you seeking

20 to mark this as an exhibit?

21 MS. KNOWLTON:  Oh, yes.  I apologize.

22 "PSNH 18", I believe?

23 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Yes.  For

24 identification.

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
    42

 1 (The document, as described, was 

 2 herewith marked as PSNH Exhibit 18 for 

 3 identification.) 

 4 MS. KNOWLTON:  Thank you.

 5 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 6 Q. And, as part of this agenda, you agreed that in puts

 7 into this back-cast, you had a very specific list  of

 8 inputs that would be developed by LAI or PSNH, is  that

 9 right?

10 A. (Arnold) Well, this is our proposal.

11 Q. Okay.  And, did LAI do that?

12 A. (Arnold) Did they do -- are you asking if they

13 incorporated everything that we suggested here?

14 Q. Yes.

15 A. (Arnold) No.

16 Q. Well, which ones didn't, let's just go through --

17 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back and actually revie w.  I

18 can say we all came to agreement on incorporating  many

19 of these.  And, as I remember, during this meetin g, we

20 learned a little more about how they were doing t hings.

21 We may have found that some of our requests were not

22 especially material, pertinent.  We found that we  had

23 to add others, I believe.  I would view this as j ust

24 our starter for the session.  We spent quite a lo ng
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 1 time deciding how to set up the back-cast efficie ntly

 2 to answer multiple questions.

 3 Q. And, you reached a conclusion in that discussio n,

 4 correct?

 5 A. (Arnold) Yeah, we did, on how to set up that ba ck-cast.

 6 Q. And, LAI ran that back-cast consistent with tha t --

 7 A. (Arnold) With the consensus discussion.  And, l et me

 8 add that it took a while to come to consensus.

 9 Because, I mean, I think there were three differe nt

10 opinions on how to run this and what to do.  And,  we

11 realized, on our side, that this was a time-consu ming

12 exercise, not simple, and we came to a consensus.

13 Q. And, Mr. Arnold, LAI --

14 MS. KNOWLTON:  And, actually, I just

15 want to -- that there's no question pending.  So,  I

16 understand that the witnesses may confer, but it appears

17 that Mr. McCluskey is conferring with Mr. Arnold when

18 there's no question pending.  So, -- 

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  He just told him to

20 move the microphone farther away, but there may b e more

21 than that.  

22 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.

23 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  So, why don't you

24 ask your question.
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 1 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.

 2 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 3 Q. Mr. Arnold, why don't you tell me about the sec ond

 4 meeting, when was that?

 5 A. (Arnold) I believe it was later in June, I'd ha ve to

 6 check the dates, go back to my notes.

 7 Q. Did you travel again to Boston for that meeting ?

 8 A. (Arnold) Yes, I did.

 9 Q. What was the subject matter of that meeting?

10 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back and check my notes .  I

11 believe it was review of the initial back-cast re sults.

12 Q. And, would you agree that LAI voluntarily provi ded yet

13 another back-cast simulation, at the Staff's requ est?

14 A. (Arnold) I don't -- you know, "volunteer", I do n't

15 remember if they volunteered or we asked and they

16 agreed.  I'd have to go back and check my notes.

17 Q. But they did it?  

18 A. (Arnold) They did an additional back-cast, yes.

19 Q. And, all -- all during those meetings, it sound s like

20 both meetings were in June, correct, of 2011?

21 A. (Arnold) I believe they were, yes.

22 Q. And, that exchange of information all occurred without

23 the benefit of having a non-disclosure agreement in

24 place, correct?
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 1 A. (Arnold) That's correct.

 2 Q. And, --

 3 A. (Arnold) That was inhibiting progress.

 4 Q. But you went to the meanings and LAI answered y our

 5 questions, correct?

 6 A. (Arnold) All the -- yes.  They answered the que stions

 7 that we were asking about the model, yes.

 8 Q. And, in that same time frame, on June 21st, 201 1, LAI's

 9 last version of the NDA was transmitted to you, y ou and

10 your colleagues, correct?

11 A. (Arnold) I have to check the timeline I have, e xcuse

12 me.  Would you repeat your question?

13 Q. Sure.  That, in that same time frame that these

14 meetings were ongoing, that, more specifically, o n

15 June 21st, 2011, LAI's last version of the NDA wa s

16 transmitted to you and your colleagues?

17 A. (Arnold) Okay.  What I can't remember is the da te of

18 the second meeting in Boston.

19 Q. Would you accept subject to check that it was

20 June 13th, 2011?

21 A. (Arnold) Subject to check, yes.

22 Q. Okay.  And, June 21st, 2011, LAI's latest versi on and

23 last version of the NDA was sent to you, correct?

24 A. (Arnold) Yes.  That's what I have in my timelin e.
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 1 Q. And, about three weeks later, on July 15th, 201 1, you,

 2 when I say "you", you or your firm, responded to that

 3 version of the NDA, right?

 4 A. (Arnold) That's correct.

 5 Q. And, in July of 2011, you were on vacation, rig ht?

 6 A. (Arnold) Off and on, yes.  Not the whole period , I was

 7 on vacation off and on.  And, in fact, just to cl arify,

 8 I was working on this project while on vacation, too.

 9 Q. And, shortly after you got back from your vacat ion, you

10 filed your testimony and expert report in this do cket,

11 right?

12 A. (Arnold) Yes.

13 Q. If you would go back to your Statement of Work.   That's

14 the one attached to Mr. Large's rebuttal testimon y.

15 A. (Arnold) I've got it.

16 Q. Subject to the contract amendments that we'll s ee in

17 your record response, you had limits on how much time

18 you could spend on this matter, right?

19 A. (Arnold) Correct.  Limits?  No.

20 Q. Okay.

21 A. (Arnold) I would not define those as "limits".  Those

22 are the hours that I would agree to spend for the

23 agreed compensation.

24 Q. So, if you look at the last page of the Stateme nt of
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 1 Work, it's got a -- there's a table with "work it ems"

 2 and "estimates".  Do you see that before you?

 3 A. (Arnold) Yes.  It's an ugly table.

 4 Q. And, you've allocated, you have "low end" and " high end

 5 estimates" where you've allocated what you called  "Work

 6 Man days" per task?

 7 A. (Arnold) Right.  

 8 Q. Do you see that?

 9 A. (Arnold) Yes.

10 Q. Do you know, were those -- were those work man day

11 estimates low and high, were they amended subsequ ently?

12 A. (Arnold) No.  Absolutely not.  I don't -- never  do

13 that.  I mean, they were not.

14 Q. So, just the dollar amounts?

15 A. (Arnold) Right.

16 Q. Okay.  Did you follow these -- so, were you bou nded at

17 all by these estimates, in terms of how much time  you

18 spent per task?

19 A. (Arnold) It came to be understood that the proj ect

20 turned out a little different than we expected.  And,

21 George and I agreed that, you know, there would b e

22 wiggle room between the individual tasks there.  That's

23 not uncommon.  When we wrote this, you know, agre ement

24 up -- when I wrote this agreement up and presente d it,
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 1 it was based on my understanding of the project a t the

 2 time.

 3 Q. And, it sounds like your understanding of the p roject

 4 changed once you got into it?

 5 A. (Arnold) Yes.

 6 Q. But the scope of work was never changed to matc h that

 7 understanding?

 8 A. (Arnold) Not on paper, no.  I mean, --

 9 MS. KNOWLTON:  And, I actually would

10 ask, Mr. McCluskey, I just, you know, I can hear a little

11 bit through the microphones, and I just heard you  whisper

12 an answer to Mr. Arnold.  And, I would really -- I would

13 ask that the Commission instruct Mr. McCluskey to  not do

14 that.

15 WITNESS ARNOLD:  I didn't hear it.  Did

16 you hear it?

17 MR. SPEIDEL:  Might have been a sigh,

18 counsel, which is known to happen.

19 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'm going to start

20 sighing shortly.

21 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, I think, Mr.

22 McCluskey, you understand the questions are being  directed

23 to Mr. Arnold.  I am beginning to wonder what the  reason

24 for your concern about this separation is.  You s eem

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
    49

 1 concerned that -- well, I'm not sure what you're concerned

 2 about.

 3 MS. KNOWLTON:  Well, just as I said, I

 4 mean, it's an expert report that was written by

 5 Mr. Arnold.  And, I just, you know, I want to ask  him

 6 questions about what he did.  How he reached thos e

 7 conclusions, how he got there, how much time he h ad.  And,

 8 you know, Mr. McCluskey has testimony that he pro vided,

 9 I've got some questions for him on that.  But I r eally

10 would like to understand, you know, Mr. Arnold's effort

11 here.

12 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  But

13 you've been asking questions "do you remember the  day of a

14 certain meeting?"  If Mr. Arnold doesn't recall i t, and

15 Mr. McCluskey does, and you know he was in attend ance, I'm

16 not sure I get the point --

17 MS. KNOWLTON:  Yeah.  Okay.  That's

18 fine.

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  -- of filling in the

20 answers.  So, if it's focused on his report and h is input,

21 and I've told you that that's fair, but I'm not - - I'm not

22 entirely seeing the link here.

23 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.

24 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 
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 1 Q. Okay.  Well, let's look at your expert report.  That's,

 2 I believe, attached as "Exhibit 9" to your testim ony.

 3 A. (Arnold) Okay.  I've got it.

 4 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  So, that would be,

 5 for the record, Staff Exhibit 1, starting at Bate s

 6 Page 59.

 7 MS. KNOWLTON:  I have Page 59.

 8 WITNESS ARNOLD:  It starts on Page 59.

 9 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

10 Q. So, I take it, Mr. Arnold, that this report was  drafted

11 by you?

12 A. (Arnold) Yes, it was.

13 Q. And, the model that -- in your report you write  about

14 the LAI model, correct?

15 A. (Arnold) Yes.  I do write about the LAI model i n this

16 report.

17 Q. And, it's referred to as a "Monte Carlo stochas tic

18 model"?

19 A. (Arnold) I would -- you would have to direct me  to a

20 line or a paragraph.  I mean, I generally agree w ith

21 that.  

22 Q. Okay.

23 A. (Arnold) It's a model that incorporates Monte C arlo

24 submodels.
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 1 Q. Okay.  And, is a stochastic model based on

 2 probabilities?

 3 A. (Arnold) A stochastic model uses probability in put

 4 distributions, yes.

 5 Q. And, in essence, probabilities to determine whe ther

 6 certain scenarios will occur?

 7 A. (Arnold) A typical model will use probabilities  for

 8 certain variables to develop various scenarios wi thin

 9 the model.

10 Q. And, that's in contrast to a deterministic mode l, which

11 bases an analysis on a single set of determinants ?

12 A. (Arnold) Yes.  That's a -- that's a simplified

13 definition, but, yes.

14 Q. Would you agree that a stochastic model has a h igher

15 chance of capturing the potential future value of  an

16 asset within a range of values than a determinist ic

17 model?

18 A. (Arnold) I would agree that you're more likely to

19 capture the ultimate future value you're looking for

20 with a properly built and executed stochastic mod el

21 than if you're using a deterministic model, in mo st

22 cases.  Now, if there's a lot of certainty involv ed,

23 that's not the case.  But, in situations like thi s,

24 where there is so much uncertainty, if the model is
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 1 built to accurately represent the behavior of the  asset

 2 and the behavior of the people managing the asset , and

 3 if you're reasonably lucky about the forecasts yo u're

 4 putting in to the model, if forecasts are involve d, or

 5 scenarios, it will do a much better job than a

 6 single-line deterministic forecast.  But you have  a

 7 range of outputs based on probability, versus a s ingle

 8 number.

 9 Q. Now, as I understand it, that this model that w as

10 developed by LAI actually consists of ten separat e

11 submodels?

12 A. (Arnold) It consists of many.  I would have to go back

13 to their diagram to look at the exact number.  Bu t it

14 does consist of a number of separate submodels, y es.

15 Q. And, you reviewed the structure of each of thos e

16 submodels, with the exception of the Capacity Pri ce

17 Forecast Model, correct?

18 A. (Arnold) I, well, reviewed it in written descri ptions

19 of the structure, right.

20 Q. And, that's what your report is about, you go t hrough

21 each of those model structures?

22 A. (Arnold) Well, we go through, as they were desc ribed to

23 us, and, if they work as described, we make concl usions

24 and talk about each submodel or the key submodels .
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 1 Q. And, the first one that you write about is "Mod el 1a:

 2 Natural Gas Monthly Forward Pricing Models"?

 3 A. (Arnold) Yes.

 4 Q. And, with regard to that submodel, you conclude d

 5 favorably that LAI, I'm reading, "LAI's overall

 6 approach for modeling natural gas prices at Newin gton

 7 Station over the 10 year analysis period is accep table,

 8 with reservations."  That's on Page 3 of 13 of yo ur

 9 report.

10 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Let me -- "Page 3 of 13".  Coul d you

11 direct me to the paragraph?

12 Q. Right.  So, under "Model 1a".

13 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.  And, which paragraph?

14 Q. And, I'm looking at the first full paragraph. " LAI's

15 overall approach for modeling natural gas prices at

16 Newington Station over the 10 year analysis perio d is

17 acceptable, with reservations."

18 A. (Arnold) And, your question was?

19 Q. Well, I want to just go through and talk with y ou about

20 those reservations that you have.

21 A. (Arnold) Okay.

22 Q. My understanding is is that the first two of th ose

23 three reservations with regard to Model 1a relate d to

24 the Bloomberg data issue and the data inputs for Dracut
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 1 to Newington Station basis spreads.

 2 A. (Arnold) Do you have a question?

 3 Q. Right.  Those are the two reservations, correct ?

 4 A. (Arnold) Where are you reading the reservations ?

 5 Q. Well, I'm reading through your subsequent discu ssion,

 6 which goes on Page 3 and onto Page 4, which talks  about

 7 issues that you have with the basis spreads, and that

 8 you didn't have access to the Bloomberg data.  I' m just

 9 trying to understand the nature of your reservati on.

10 A. (Arnold) Okay.  And, I don't remember ever numb ering

11 reservations.

12 Q. Yes, you might not have put a number on it.  I just

13 counted myself and I saw two; one that related to  the

14 Bloomberg data and the second that related to the  basis

15 spread issues.

16 A. (Arnold) Right.  You understand what the key

17 reservation is, that I can't tell Mr. McCluskey t hat

18 the model is working like it should.

19 Q. You testified earlier that your version of Plat ts

20 didn't -- wasn't a comprehensive access to Platts ?

21 A. (Arnold) Right.  We just get the prices that we  need.

22 I mean, for example, if we would have been doing work

23 with somebody in the New England area, and we -- and

24 they were using natural gas from the Dracut point , we
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 1 would have asked for those prices from some sourc e.  We

 2 probably -- I figure we could have found them fro m one

 3 of our sources.

 4 Q. But you didn't do that here, right?

 5 A. (Arnold) No.

 6 Q. Okay.

 7 A. (Arnold) I mean, I looked, first of all, to see  if we

 8 had them.  We do have some natural gas price stri ngs.

 9 Q. Did you ever attempt to call Platts to ask whet her they

10 would give you access to those Dracut prices?

11 A. (Arnold) Yes.

12 Q. And, what did they say?  What did they tell you ?

13 A. (Arnold) They told -- they didn't tell me.  I h ad one

14 of my assistants inquire about them.  And, it was

15 another organization, I don't remember who it was .  We

16 found them somewhere, it was a price, but that wa s

17 beyond the scope for us to pay for data.

18 Q. Would you accept subject to check that Platts w ill

19 provide that gas price data for Dracut for $500?

20 MR. SPEIDEL:  I find that question to be

21 extremely speculative and, essentially, a blanket

22 statement by Ms. Knowlton that goes beyond the "s ubject to

23 check" possibility.  It's extremely speculative.

24 MS. KNOWLTON:  You could call Platts and
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 1 ask.

 2 MR. SPEIDEL:  Okay.  Call up Platts from

 3 the stand, Counsel?

 4 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  Let's

 5 stop.  You didn't ask him what price he was quote d, that's

 6 what he was told.  If you want to introduce new e vidence,

 7 I don't think a question through the "subject to check" is

 8 -- that's sort of going beyond what our normal "s ubject to

 9 check" is.

10 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.

11 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  But you can ask him,

12 if you want, what he was told as a price.

13 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

14 Q. What price -- do you recall what price you or y our

15 colleague were given?

16 A. (Arnold) It was so -- It was so high that I wou ld have

17 had to ask for approval.  And, so, I just -- and,  it

18 just seemed out of the scope.  I can't remember e xactly

19 what it was, but it was, if I remember right, I h ad to

20 buy a packet, it -- I couldn't just get that.  Bu t I'm

21 not sure.  But it was a little too high for me to  just

22 go out and put it on my AmEx card.  And, also, I don't

23 think that was what I was supposed to do for this

24 project.  I didn't think that was my obligation.  It's
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 1 not how I typically perform these studies.  It's on the

 2 other side to provide the data.

 3 Q. If you would go to Page 4 of your report, at th e top of

 4 the page, on 4, you suggest that a better method for

 5 valuing Newington would have been to look at "mul tiple

 6 [gas price] scenarios", and then allow the study reader

 7 "to pick one or two [gas] futures [that the reade r]

 8 considered to be [the] most likely as the basis f or

 9 [the] valuation."  Do you see that at the top of the

10 page?

11 A. (Arnold) I've got to read the whole paragraph.

12 Q. Okay.  Why don't you just do that.  And, then, when

13 you're ready, I'll ask you my question.

14 A. (Arnold) Okay.  I'm ready for your question.

15 Q. Isn't that more like a deterministic approach, going in

16 and picking one?  

17 A. (Arnold) No, it is not.  Because, when I talk a bout

18 "scenarios", each one of them is a probabilistic based

19 scenario.  Just for a little bit of background, w hen we

20 -- when I talk about "scenarios", we typically ra nge

21 base them and base them on probabilistic ranges a nd

22 values.

23 And, where I was really going here was

24 trying to get away from a futures-based type fore cast,
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 1 but a forecast based upon market scenarios.  What  I

 2 find is typically decision-makers can do a better  job

 3 when they can -- when they have options in front of

 4 them.  We don't know how the future is going to t urn

 5 out.  We don't know, for example, where -- I mean ,

 6 natural gas is a great example.  A lot of things are

 7 driving that price right now.  Five to ten years from

 8 now, they could be significantly different than t hey

 9 are now.  We've certainly been surprised the last  few

10 years.  But there's a lot of things that could ha ppen,

11 policywise, macroeconomicwise to change it.  Well , and

12 decision-makers, to make a decision, they pretty much

13 have to pick one or two scenarios that they're go ing to

14 use as a planning basis for going forward.  And, my --

15 my group's general recommendation is to, first of  all,

16 pick the view of the future you believe in most f or

17 your market, for your area, and then make sure, i f

18 you're having a study done, that the forecast you 're

19 using, the scenario you're using, fits your view of the

20 future.

21 Q. Is it possible then, though, that you might pic k one,

22 and I might pick another?

23 A. (Arnold) Yes.  Now, it's also possible that the  -- if I

24 delivered, and this is just a hypothetical possib ility,
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 1 that if I delivered four different scenarios to t he

 2 decision-makers in this project, they would each be a

 3 probabilistic -- let's just talk about what the v alue

 4 is of natural gas in year 2025.  There would be a

 5 probable histogram, a range of values for natural  gas

 6 in year 2025 for each scenario.  There might be s ome

 7 overlap between two scenarios.  But there would b e some

 8 low prices -- okay, I'm just the opposite of you guys,

 9 but, low to high, high price scenario defined by a

10 histogram of probability distribution.  It may we ll be

11 that the LAI type scenario was wide enough to enc ompass

12 all those different scenarios.  I'd have to go an d

13 review it.

14 So, this all comes down to how you

15 define your scenarios, and the way you want to se t up

16 your forecast and make your decision.  I was just

17 trying to provide a little insight.  It's hard fo r me

18 not to be a consultant when I'm doing the job.  T hat's

19 all.

20 Q. Let's look at Model 1b that starts on Page 4.  That's

21 the "RFO and 2FO Monthly Forwards Pricing Model".

22 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Page 4.  All right.

23 Q. Page 4.  And, there it was your opinion that LA I's

24 forecasted prices for RFO and 2FO "do not represe nt the
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 1 most likely near-term scenario (over next 1 to 5+

 2 years)"?

 3 A. (Arnold) Right.  This was, and when I say "pers onal

 4 opinion", it's a group of opinions of a number of

 5 people in our consultancy that -- and we had a si milar

 6 forecast out there that we thought was more likel y than

 7 this.  You know, you're getting close to dueling

 8 consultants here.

 9 Q. And, here, you actually chose to provide LAI da ta, you

10 gave LAI data on oil and natural gas price ratios  to

11 feed into the model, right?

12 A. (Arnold) Yes.

13 Q. And, those ratios that you developed were devel oped

14 sometime in 2011?

15 A. (Arnold) Let's see.  These ratios were probably

16 updated, I mean, I haven't gone back and checked all

17 the foot dates, but we update our forecasts quart erly,

18 sometimes monthly.  And, we put out typically thr ee

19 forecasts, we call them "scenarios".

20 Q. So, would that data, those price ratios, the pr ice

21 ratios that you provided to LAI to put in the mod el,

22 they would have been updated through the Summer o f

23 2011?

24 A. (Witness Arnold nodding affirmatively)  I would  imagine
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 1 that they had been updated sometime in the previo us

 2 three months to when I provided them.  I'd have t o go

 3 back and check whether it was the week before, th e day

 4 before, or two months earlier.

 5 Q. And, --

 6 A. (Arnold) With something like this, it's quite

 7 important, this is a quite important ratio in our

 8 group.  It's probably a very near-term estimate.

 9 Q. And, the data that LAI relied upon to develop i ts

10 ratios, that was done sometime before the report was

11 submitted and the CUO was submitted in September 2010,

12 does that sound right?

13 A. (Arnold) That sounds right.  That's what I unde rstand,

14 yes.

15 Q. Is it possible that, if LAI had updated its dat a to

16 2011, like you did, that it would have had a diff erent

17 ratio?

18 A. (Arnold) Yes.

19 Q. Okay.  And, those ratios we're talking about ar e

20 reflected -- we're still on Page 4 of Staff -- of  your

21 expert report.  Those are in Table 1?

22 A. (Arnold) Right.  The "Ratio of the 1% sulphur r esid to

23 natural gas" and the "Ratio of the Number 2 oil t o

24 natural gas".
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 1 Q. And, so, the -- again, I mean, just the LAI rat ios are

 2 a year earlier in time, right?

 3 A. (Arnold) Yes.  The report was issued -- their r eport

 4 was issued earlier in time.  I don't know when th ey

 5 devised their forecasts to feed into the report.

 6 Q. Are you aware that LAI interpreted your introdu ction to

 7 feed these price ratios in based on natural gas a t

 8 Dracut, rather than Henry Hub?

 9 A. (Arnold) I am aware now, yes, that they did tha t.

10 Q. So, would the numbers in this chart be differen t?

11 A. (Arnold) If I had used a Dracut versus a Henry Hub

12 basis?

13 Q. Right.

14 A. (Arnold) Yes.  I could not use Dracut.

15 Q. Is it possible that that different location, as  well as

16 the different point in time when the ratios were

17 developed, could account for some of the differen ces

18 between the LAI and Staff results?

19 A. (Arnold) Yes.

20 Q. And, the RFO gas and 2FO gas price ratios that you

21 developed, they weren't based on any particular t heory,

22 were they?

23 A. (Arnold) Theory?  Well, let's -- really, a rati o is two

24 elements.  We took our forward view of natural ga s
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 1 prices, we took our forward view of fuel oil and Number

 2 2 oil prices.  And, we have three scenarios for e ach of

 3 those prices.  And, each of those scenarios resul ts in

 4 a different ratio for natural gas to these oils.  I

 5 took what I called our "most conservative scenari o".

 6 Q. Do you have in front of you PSNH 17?  We marked  that a

 7 little bit earlier today.  It's Staff's response to

 8 PSNH 1-24?

 9 A. (Arnold) Yes.

10 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, this is a

11 question Mr. McCluskey responded to.  

12 MS. KNOWLTON:  Right.

13 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  So, are you asking

14 him about Mr. McCluskey's statements?

15 MS. KNOWLTON:  Well, it refers -- all of

16 the responses that we got were authored by Mr. Mc Cluskey.

17 I can ask Mr. Arnold whether he participated in i t.  I

18 mean, it does --

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, I'm just

20 trying to get to your distinction.  

21 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.  

22 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  It seems to me

23 something that both of them together would be hel pful on.

24 MS. KNOWLTON:  Sure.  Okay.
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 1 MR. SPEIDEL:  Thank you.

 2 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 3 Q. Well, if you look in the response to the Reques t (a)

 4 was asking about to "provide an explanation of th e

 5 theory [or the] data analysis, and assumptions" b ased

 6 on the Staff's development of these ratios.  And,  the

 7 response that we got back that has Mr. McCluskey' s name

 8 on it says that "There's no theory involved here. "

 9 And, then, it goes on to say that "the

10 assumptions...are based on personal expectations. "  Are

11 those your personal expectations or Mr. McCluskey 's?

12 A. (Arnold) No.  These ratios were provided by my group.

13 They're based upon the personal expectations of t he

14 nine different individuals who contribute to the

15 forecasts.  And, "personal expectations" and "the ory"

16 are two different things to me.  Maybe we're gett ing

17 into a matter of semantics.

18 Q. Well, I think what I -- let me ask you if I hav e a

19 correct understanding of what you're saying, is t hat

20 experts have different opinions?  You might have one

21 opinion, and someone else might have a different

22 opinion?

23 A. (Arnold) Oh, that's correct.  That's why we ble nd the

24 points of view of nine different people to come u p with
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 1 our three scenarios.  Each of the contributors de velops

 2 three outlooks.  And, we give them the same marke t and

 3 macroenvironment policy description.  And, then, for

 4 each of those descriptions, the nine experts prov ide a

 5 outlook for the key prices.

 6 Q. And, is it possible that other consultants unde rtake a

 7 similar process, where they have a blending of op inions

 8 to reach a perspective?

 9 A. (Arnold) Oh, yes.  Yes.

10 Q. All right.  Let's skip to the next model.  And,

11 actually, I think we can go through Models 2 thro ugh 7

12 in one fell swoop.  In your report, Model 2 start s on

13 -- your discussion of Model 2 starts on Page 5, a nd all

14 the way, your discussion from 2 to 7, all the way

15 through to Page 7.  And, my understanding is is t hat,

16 for each of those models, you found all aspects o f

17 those models to be reasonable, with essentially n o

18 critical comments?

19 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Let me review.  Which model num bers are

20 you talking about again?

21 Q. Two through six.  I'm sorry, 2 through 7.

22 A. (Arnold) Okay.  In general, their design, as ex plained

23 to me, appear to be reasonable.

24 Q. And, looking at Model 8, --
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 1 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.

 2 Q. -- and, generally, you felt that that model was

 3 appropriate, with one exception?

 4 A. (Arnold) I have to review what I wrote.

 5 Q. Okay.  Just take a minute, if you would.

 6 A. (Arnold) I mean, I think it may be best for me to

 7 repeat what I --

 8 Q. Sure.  That's fine.

 9 A. (Arnold) -- what I consider to be the conclusiv e

10 statement.  "Although we cannot be definitive abo ut its

11 structure, the general concept of the model", and  this

12 is the Dispatch Simulation Model, "the general co ncept

13 of the model is familiar to Jacobs Consultancy an d,

14 aside from the exception noted above," which I'll  talk

15 about in a little bit, "it makes sense.  It appea rs to

16 be appropriate for this type of system."  And, I also

17 said "The modeling of [the] forced outage events

18 appears to be reasonable", based on the descripti on

19 that we've got.

20 Okay.  Now, the exception:  "LAI modeled

21 energy net revenues on the assumption that Newing ton

22 Station is dispatched only when it is economicall y

23 profitable to do so, that is, when market-based

24 revenues are expected to exceed fuel costs plus
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 1 appropriate O&M costs including the cost of emiss ion

 2 allowances."

 3 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, Mr. Jacobs

 4 [Arnold ?], I don't know if you need to read the entire

 5 paragraph.  We have it in the record.

 6 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Okay.

 7 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 8 Q. If I can ask you -- I just want to ask you a qu estion

 9 about that one exception.

10 A. (Arnold) Okay.

11 Q. You were here yesterday, I believe, when Mr. Mc Cluskey

12 -- you were on the stand with Mr. McCluskey yeste rday?

13 A. (Arnold) Yes.

14 Q. And, he testified yesterday that ISO-New Englan d fully

15 compensates the generation units when it's called  to

16 provide operating reserves.

17 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.

18 Q. Do you still have that exception with regard to  this

19 model?

20 A. (Arnold) I would agree with what Mr. McCluskey said

21 yesterday.  And, so, I would change this statemen t in

22 alignment with what he said yesterday.

23 Q. And, this question can go to either witness.  A nd,

24 Staff, in discovery, the Company had asked Staff about
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 1 the number -- I'm sorry, Staff had asked the Comp any

 2 about the number of days that Newington Station h ad run

 3 for economic reasons in 2010.  And, I can show yo u the

 4 response, if you want.  But the answer was that " there

 5 were 33 days and 32 starts in 2010."  Would you a ccept

 6 that, Mr. McCluskey, or would you like to see the

 7 response?

 8 A. (McCluskey) If I could see the response, please .

 9 MS. KNOWLTON:  We can -- I propose to

10 mark for identification as "PSNH 19" the PSNH res ponse to

11 Technical Session Request 2-8.

12 (Atty. Eaton distributing documents.) 

13 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  We'll mark that for

14 identification as "PSNH 19".

15 (The document, as described, was 

16 herewith marked as PSNH Exhibit 19 for 

17 identification.) 

18 MS. KNOWLTON:  Actually, at the same

19 time I'd like to mark, if I may, -- 

20 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  If I could just --

21 is this the response that you just referred to?

22 MS. KNOWLTON:  No.  I just realized

23 that.  I've got two questions that relate.  So, i f we

24 could mark as "20", "PSNH 20", the response to Te ch
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 1 Session 2-9.

 2 (Atty. Eaton distributing documents.) 

 3 MS. KNOWLTON:  I think that's the one

 4 you need, Mr. McCluskey.  Sorry about that.

 5 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  So, we'll mark the

 6 response to Tech Session 9 as "PSNH 20" for

 7 identification.

 8 (The document, as described, was 

 9 herewith marked as PSNH Exhibit 20 for 

10 identification.) 

11 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, Ms. Knowlton,

12 why don't we plan on about five more minutes, and  then

13 take a break for the court reporter.

14 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

15 Q. When you're ready, Mr. McCluskey, just let me k now.

16 A. (McCluskey) Yes, I'm ready.

17 Q. Okay.  So, my question is, is it correct that t he --

18 that Newington Station in 2010 ran for economic r easons

19 33 days and 32 starts?

20 A. (McCluskey) I haven't added up the number of da ys, but

21 I'll -- what was this?  I haven't added up the nu mber

22 of days, but I'll accept your statement.

23 Q. Okay.  And, if you look at PSNH 19.

24 A. (McCluskey) Nineteen?
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 1 Q. Nineteen.  This was a data request from the Sta ff to

 2 the Company, and it relates to the back-cast anal ysis,

 3 correct?

 4 A. (McCluskey) This is the response to TECH-08, is  that

 5 correct?

 6 Q. And, can you see, if you go to the second page,  --

 7 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Yes, Mr. McCluskey.

 8 It's 08.

 9 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Thank you.

10 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

11 Q. So, we're looking at the second page of the res ponse to

12 Tech Session 2-8.  And, can you -- do you see the re how

13 many days the back-cast analysis estimated that t he

14 Station would run for economic reasons in 2010?

15 MR. SPEIDEL:  Now, -- 

16 BY THE WITNESS: 

17 A. (McCluskey) Number of days or number of starts?

18 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

19 Q. Sorry, number of starts.  Under the "Number of Starts"

20 column.

21 A. (McCluskey) Yes, I see that.

22 MR. SPEIDEL:  Now, what may be helpful,

23 Ms. Knowlton, if you're specific in terms of whic h column

24 value -- 
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 1 MS. KNOWLTON:  All right.

 2 MR. SPEIDEL:  -- you would like to ask

 3 about, because there's several different versions  of the

 4 number of starts presented here.  So, which are y ou

 5 referring to?

 6 MS. KNOWLTON:  All right.  Just a

 7 minute, actually.  I think this response, I didn' t

 8 realize, may have been -- there's a page that is missing.

 9 It says "Page 2 of 3", and I'm just realizing tha t my copy

10 is missing the third page.

11 MR. EATON:  I have it on the back of

12 mine.

13 MS. KNOWLTON:  On the back?  Okay, my

14 copy didn't get it on the back.  Operator error i n the

15 copy machine.  

16 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

17 Q. But, if you could look at Page three, is where we're

18 looking, under "Number of Starts", for 2010, what  was

19 the -- under the "EV", which is "Expected Value",

20 correct, what is the number?

21 A. (McCluskey) The "Expected Value" was "37".

22 Q. If you go -- do you have a copy that's got Page  3?

23 MR. SPEIDEL:  He does, I don't.

24 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.
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 1 MR. SPEIDEL:  Thank you.

 2 BY THE WITNESS: 

 3 A. (McCluskey) Yes, I do.

 4 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 5 Q. And, expected value is the result of running th e

 6 analysis what the particular result was expected to be,

 7 on average?

 8 A. (McCluskey) Under the "Revised Start Fuel Data" ?  

 9 Q. Yes.

10 A. (McCluskey) Is that what you're referring to?  Yes.

11 The "Expected Value" was "32".

12 Q. Okay.  And, that's pretty close to the 33 days that

13 Newington Station actually did run, right?

14 Thirty-three (33) days, 32 starts in 2010, based on

15 Tech 2-9?

16 A. (McCluskey) Under the "Revised Fuel Start Data" , is

17 that what you're saying?

18 Q. Yes.

19 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  Based on your statement that the

20 number of starts, actual, under economic dispatch , were

21 in the low 30s, yes, the two are very close.

22 Q. Okay.

23 MS. KNOWLTON:  Actually, this would be

24 -- we could break now, and then I think I can wra p up
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 1 pretty quickly when we come back with this panel.

 2 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Certainly.  Let's

 3 take a 15-minute break, and resume at 11:00 pleas e.

 4 (Whereupon a recess was taken at 10:45 

 5 a.m. and the hearing reconvened at 11:07 

 6 a.m.) 

 7 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Ms. Knowlton, are

 8 you ready?

 9 MS. KNOWLTON:  Yes.  Thank you.

10 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

11 Q. I'll direct this question to the panel.  There were

12 some data changes relating to fuel use for starts  and

13 plant warming that were made to the model, is tha t

14 right?

15 A. (McCluskey) Could you give me the question agai n.

16 Q. There were some data changes related to fuel us e for

17 starts and plant warming in the model, correct?

18 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.  They were made to the --

19 to what's been described as the "re-run" requeste d by

20 Staff.

21 Q. But the back-cast exercise didn't reveal any st ructural

22 flaws in the model, right?

23 A. (McCluskey) "Structural flaws", what do you mea n by

24 that?
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 1 Q. In the price scenario simulation model or in th e

 2 dispatch simulation model, for example, we saw, r ight

 3 before we took the break, we saw that, when the

 4 back-cast was run, with regard to the number of s tarts

 5 for operating reserves, that it actually was quit e

 6 accurate that, you know, the numbers were very cl ose,

 7 based on actuals.  And, so, there weren't any

 8 structural flaws to how the model worked that, yo u

 9 know, that were revealed when the back-cast was r un?

10 A. (McCluskey) I would not agree with that.  If th e

11 Commission would like to turn to PSNH Exhibit 19,  which

12 was just handed out.  And, turn to the third page ,

13 where we were discussing before the break.  And, if you

14 could focus on the two columns "actual" for Newin gton

15 and the "Expected Value" column.  And, before the

16 break, we were talking about the number of starts .

17 And, I agreed that the number of starts, at least  for

18 economic dispatch, were reasonable, actual versus

19 expected value.  However, if you cast your eyes d own to

20 the last row, which is referred to as "Net Revenu e",

21 which really is the primary objective of the mode l, is

22 to calculate the net revenue.  It's showing that,  under

23 the "Expected Value", the model is producing a fi gure

24 of almost $5 million.  And, under the "Actual" ru n, it
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 1 was approximately $1.5 million.  So, Attorney Kno wlton

 2 referred to "structural problems", I'm not really  sure

 3 what that means.  But the result of the back-cast

 4 analysis, as represented in this particular exhib it,

 5 was showing that there was significant difference s in

 6 the expected versus actual net revenue.  So, if t hat's

 7 due to structural flaws, then, yes, there are

 8 structural flaws.  But I certainly couldn't point  to

 9 what they are, because we never got access to the

10 actual model itself.

11 Q. Okay.  Looking at -- if you would, still lookin g at

12 your report, Mr. Arnold, on Page 11 of 13.

13 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Page 11, 12, and 13.

14 MR. SPEIDEL:  And, this is Staff Exhibit

15 1.

16 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

17 Q. Looking at -- if you would look at "Table 2", t he

18 "Back-Cast Result Analysis", do you see that?

19 A. (Arnold) Yes, I do.

20 Q. Do you agree that the simulated value of energy  net

21 revenue referred to in the revenue and cost value s in

22 the three back-cast case columns in this table is  the

23 expected value or the mean of the 250 scenarios o f

24 random prices and forced outages?
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 1 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Would you repeat that?

 2 Q. Sure.  Do you agree that this simulated value o f energy

 3 net revenue that's referenced in this chart and t he

 4 revenue and cost values in the three back-cast ca se

 5 columns of this Table 2 is the expected value or the

 6 mean of the 250 scenarios of random prices and fo rced

 7 outages?

 8 A. (Arnold) I'd have to go back to the Levitan rep ort to

 9 see whether they used the median or the mean.  It 's one

10 of the two.  Or, I may have written it down here.

11 Could I have a moment to review my report?

12 Q. Sure.  Yes.  You might want to look at the resp onse

13 that's been marked as "PSNH Exhibit 19", on the b ack

14 page, Page 3, under the "P50" column.

15 A. (Arnold) I don't see corresponding numbers in m y

16 Table 2 and your Page 3 of 3, between either of t he

17 mean or the median value in the "Net Revenue" lin e.

18 Oh.  And, there's probably a reason for this.  We  had

19 to adjust to get on an apples-to-apples basis.  W e did

20 find one correlation, I mean, one match in number s.

21 Right.  So, if you, on Table 2, in my report, the

22 number at the far right, "Rev 0", the original

23 back-cast, you'll see a number there for "Net Rev enue"

24 of "5,359".  Okay?  That is -- that corresponds t o the
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 1 expected value in Table 2 of 3 in PSNH Exhibit 19 .

 2 And, what we did was, the process of going toward s the

 3 middle was to get everything on an apples-to-appl es

 4 basis, using some corrections that we had to do, I

 5 believe these were, you know, hand math correctio ns, to

 6 get everything on an apples-to-apples basis betwe en the

 7 two points of comparison.  So, you're not going t o find

 8 those numbers in the output from Levitan.

 9 Q. And, if you look at, on your Table 2, under the  column

10 "Rev 2", and then go to PSNH 19, Page 3, under th e

11 "Expected Value" column, it looks like you derive d some

12 of those numbers, "Fuel Cost", "Emission" -- 

13 A. (Arnold) I don't think you can --

14 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Let her finish the

15 question.

16 WITNESS ARNOLD:  Okay.  I'm sorry.

17 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

18 Q. Okay.  Just I'm looking at the Page 3 on that E xhibit

19 19.  And, if you look at the "Energy Revenue", un der

20 the "Expected Value", --

21 A. (Arnold) Uh-huh.

22 Q. Do you see where I am?

23 A. (Arnold) Yes.

24 Q. Where it says "22,640".  Looks like -- 
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 1 A. (Arnold) Looks like I've pulled some of those n umbers

 2 from here.

 3 Q. Right.  So, for that "Rev 2" column, it looks l ike you

 4 have relied on the data that's in this Exhibit PS NH 19?

 5 A. (Arnold) In part.  Uh-huh.

 6 Q. The "22,640", the fuel cost data and the emissi on

 7 allowance cost information is all from this exhib it,

 8 correct?

 9 A. (Arnold) Correct.

10 Q. And did, Dr. Carlson calculate that plant warmi ng cost

11 for you at your request?

12 A. (Arnold) I believe he did.  I think that happen ed live,

13 while we were there, if I remember right.  And, t he

14 reason you're going to see a difference here is t his is

15 a high-level comparison to try to get to an

16 apples-to-apples basis, between "Rev 0", on the l eft,

17 the actual original 2010, and the back-cast resul ts.

18 So, I think it's a little dangerous to try to com pare,

19 because we didn't go through the comparison to ge t to

20 apples and apples in the detail you have on Table  3.

21 Q. Uh-huh.

22 A. (Arnold) So, I believe this, what you see here on

23 Table 2 is what we did at the session at Levitan,  to

24 see how we were.
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 1 Q. Okay.  And, in your testimony, I'm looking at y our

 2 testimony on Page 19.  I'll let you take a minute  and

 3 get that before you.

 4 A. (Arnold) Okay.

 5 Q. I'm looking at Lines 13 to 17.

 6 A. (Arnold) Yes.

 7 Q. There you state that, "even after adjusting the  results

 8 of the back-casting analysis for several data err ors,

 9 the model continued to overestimate actual 2010 e nergy

10 net revenues by about 1.2 million or 45 percent."

11 Would you agree that, when you refer to "several data

12 errors" there, you were referring to the fuel dat a

13 adjustments that I had asked Mr. McCluskey about,  the

14 plant warming and the fuel use data?  Or, Mr. McC luskey

15 can answer that, either one of you.

16 A. (McCluskey) If I can?  Yes.  It certainly inclu ded

17 changes to start-up fuel costs and the plant warm ing

18 data.  What was your third one that you said?

19 Q. Just I had those two.  Just those two.

20 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  Taking those data errors into

21 account, and the information that we've got from the

22 re-run with those corrected inputs, did allow us to

23 reduce the difference between the 2010 actuals to

24 $1.2 million.  That's correct.
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 1 Q. And, would you agree that the median result of the

 2 model scenarios for 2010 was 3.6 million?

 3 A. (Arnold) Could you ask the question again.

 4 Q. Let me ask it a different way.  Would you accep t

 5 subject to check that the median result of the mo del

 6 scenarios for 2010 was $3.6 million?

 7 A. Now, you're talking "median", and not "expected

 8 values"?

 9 Q. Right.

10 A. (Arnold) Okay.

11 MR. SPEIDEL:  It would appear to me, if

12 I may interject, that there may be a ready answer  to this,

13 but is there a ready answer to this that it might  involve

14 a good deal of calculation?

15 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Could I ask, do you

16 have an exhibit that you're referring to, Attorne y

17 Knowlton?

18 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

19 Q. Well, let me ask it a different way.  Assuming that the

20 -- to avoid having you make the calculation, assu ming

21 that the median result of the model scenarios for  2010

22 was $3.6 million, would you agree that that was a

23 $1 million difference from the actual that Mr.

24 McCluskey just referred to, the 2.6 million?
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 1 A. (Arnold) Okay.  

 2 A. (McCluskey) Excuse me.  When did I refer to the  "2.6

 3 million"?

 4 Q. I thought you said "2.6 million".  I'm sorry, m aybe you

 5 referred to the 1.2 million difference?

 6 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  That's what --

 7 Q. Okay.

 8 A. (McCluskey) -- our testimony at Page 19 says.

 9 Q. Okay.  Well, sorry.  I'll try another, take ano ther

10 stab at it.  If we assume that the median result for

11 2010 of the model scenarios was 3.6 million, that  is

12 only a 1 million difference from the model's expe cted

13 value of 3.8 million, minus the 2010 actual value  of

14 2.6 million?

15 A. (McCluskey) We're going to have to go through t his step

16 by step.  You've made an assumption about a numbe r, and

17 you compared it with something that apparently wa s the

18 result of the model.  Could you point me to where  the

19 model result that you're reading from?

20 Q. Okay.  If you look at PSNH 19.

21 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

22 Q. Under the "Energy Revenue" line.

23 A. (McCluskey) Are we looking at the "Revised Star t Fuel

24 Data" sheet?
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 1 Q. Right.  The last page.

 2 A. (McCluskey) Okay.

 3 MR. SPEIDEL:  That's Attachment 2 for

 4 the record.

 5 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Okay.

 6 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 7 Q. And, you see the "P50" value?

 8 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

 9 Q. Okay.  And, then, you look at the "Emission All owance

10 Cost"?  And, the "Fuel Cost"?

11 A. (McCluskey) Hold on.  "Emission Allowance Cost"  of

12 "372", yes.

13 Q. And, you subtract those numbers, the "18,366" a nd the

14 "372" from the "Energy Revenue" number.

15 A. (McCluskey) From the "4,807"?

16 Q. Right.  And, then, you take -- remove an additi onal

17 1,200 from the plant warming costs, as you did on

18 Table 2.

19 A. (McCluskey) Okay.  So, we're subtracting three items,

20 emission allowance costs, fuel costs, and plant w arming

21 costs, from the net revenue number of "4,807", co rrect?

22 Q. What I'm asking you to do is to take the energy  revenue

23 of "23,545", which is under the "P50"?

24 A. (McCluskey) One moment.  "Energy Revenue"?  Oka y.
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 1 That's -- yes, I see that, "23".

 2 Q. Yes.  And, then, you're going to take out the f uel

 3 cost, the emission allowance cost, and the plant

 4 warming cost, just as you did on Table 2.

 5 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Can someone help me

 6 with the third item, you had said was "1,200", an d I'm not

 7 finding any "1,200"?

 8 MS. KNOWLTON:  If you look on Table 2,

 9 the "plant warming cost" is taken out.  That's th e

10 "1,200".

11 MR. SPEIDEL:  Where is the line item for

12 that?

13 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  I'm sorry, I don't

14 know where you are.

15 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'm on Page 11, of Staff

16 Exhibit 9.  Under "Table 2", it's the last item o n the

17 table.

18 MR. SPEIDEL:  At this juncture, I would

19 like to object to this question.  This is sort of  -- this

20 is sort of a very complicated question involving

21 mathematics.  If we can just have a specific line  item

22 pointed to, and allow Mr. McCluskey and Mr. Arnol d to

23 refer to that in making their calculations, versu s five

24 different sources of information, that would be p retty
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 1 helpful.

 2 MS. KNOWLTON:  All right.  I'm okay with

 3 moving on.

 4 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 5 Q. Mr. McCluskey, yesterday you agreed that the en ergy net

 6 revenue results of the LAI model would not differ  by

 7 including the modeling of operating reserves, to

 8 clarify that your understanding that this means t hat

 9 energy revenues will change by the same amount as

10 additional fuel and emissions costs resulting in zero

11 net difference had provision of operating reserve s also

12 been modeled?

13 A. (McCluskey) Could you give me that question aga in

14 please?  

15 Q. Did you get -- I think the first part you got, right?

16 That yesterday you agreed that the energy net rev enues

17 results of the model would not differ by includin g the

18 modeling of operating reserves?

19 A. (McCluskey) That's my understanding, yes.

20 Q. Right.  That was my understanding of your testi mony.

21 And, so, I just wanted to clarify, is it also you r

22 understanding that this means that the energy rev enues

23 will change by the same amount as additional fuel  and

24 emission costs resulting in zero net difference h ad
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 1 provision of operating reserves also been modeled ?

 2 A. (McCluskey) The energy revenues would change by  the

 3 same amount as emissions/fuel costs?

 4 Q. As any additional fuel and emissions costs?  Ot herwise

 5 it would net out to zero?

 6 A. (McCluskey) Well, we're talking about revenues and

 7 costs.  Are you suggesting that increasing costs would

 8 be recovered through the dispatch price, the offe r

 9 price?  Is that what you're asking me?

10 Q. So, what I'm trying to get at is, is that, as o perating

11 performance may change, I mean, from a net revenu e

12 perspective, it's going to be a wash, given the n et

13 commitment payments are made?

14 A. (McCluskey) If the change in operations is to d eal with

15 providing operating reserves, then --

16 Q. Assume that, correct.

17 A. (McCluskey) -- then the impact on net revenues,  based

18 on my testimony yesterday, would be zero.

19 Q. Okay.  And, yesterday, you testified that you w ere

20 aware of situations where Commissions had disallo wed

21 recovery of retired plant and a return on unamort ized

22 balances.  Do you remember that?

23 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  This is a totally different i ssue.

24 Q. Totally different issue, yes.
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 1 A. (McCluskey) We're now talking about the investm ents

 2 made for the plant.  And, in particular, we're ta lking

 3 about the undepreciated investment and the return  that

 4 the Company receives on that.

 5 Q. And, you've seen cases where that's happened?

 6 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

 7 MS. KNOWLTON:  Can you -- we'd like to

 8 make a record request as "PSNH 20", that Mr. McCl uskey

 9 provide the citations to those cases that he's fa miliar

10 with.

11 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, you first

12 haven't even asked if he has cases.  If you could  -- let's

13 work it through more slowly, before we have to cr eate a

14 new exhibit.

15 MS. KNOWLTON:  Okay.  Well, I understood

16 that he was -- he just said that he was aware of

17 situations where that had occurred.  And, so, I j ust want

18 to know what -- if he could provide us informatio n about

19 what those situations --

20 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Let's ask him first

21 if he can provide them?

22 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Yes, I can.  The

23 statement that I made yesterday was based on revi ewing, in

24 particular, an order from the Oregon Commission, to the
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 1 Trojan Nuclear Power Plant, and also a couple of cases by

 2 the California Commission, to do with power plant s and

 3 other utility equipment.  So, I could -- I have e lectronic

 4 copies of those.  I can provide those.  

 5 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  Why

 6 don't we reserve Exhibit 21, PSNH 21 for that.

 7 (PSNH Exhibit 21 reserved) 

 8 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 9 Q. Mr. McCluskey, the next line of questioning I w ant to

10 ask is about Staff Exhibit 11 from yesterday.

11 A. (McCluskey) Okay.

12 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  And, this contains

13 confidential data, is that correct?

14 MR. SPEIDEL:  Yes.

15 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  Let's

16 keep that in mind in questions and answers.

17 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

18 Q. Mr. McCluskey, does that exhibit contain Dracut  price

19 data information?

20 A. (McCluskey) Yes, it does.  It's actually -- you  said

21 "does it contain".  The results that are shown on  this

22 exhibit reflect Dracut price data from Gas Daily .

23 Q. Is that the Commission's subscription to Gas Da ily ?

24 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  It's the subscription that go es to
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 1 the Gas Division.

 2 Q. Is that a Platts publication?

 3 A. (McCluskey) I believe it is.

 4 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Can I ask you a

 5 clarifying question?  My notes from yesterday, an d they

 6 may be wrong, what I wrote down on this exhibit w as "Data

 7 from Emera to PSNH" was the source of the informa tion.

 8 Did I -- what am I getting wrong here?

 9 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  This -- these

10 numbers that you see, under the monthly columns, reflect

11 the differential between the Emera gas price at N ewington

12 and the Dracut trading price.  And, so, it's a di fference.

13 So, they reflect two prices.

14 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Thank you.

15 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  So, we need to have

16 two sources; one the Emera prices, one the Gas Da ily

17 natural gas prices.

18 MR. SPEIDEL:  And, the Emera data was

19 provided to Staff subject to confidential treatme nt.

20 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  That's correct.

21 That's why this exhibit is being requested to be

22 confidential.

23 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

24 Q. Mr. McCluskey, do you remember a number of mont hs back
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 1 having a telephone conversation between yourself,

 2 Mr. Speidel, myself, and Ms. Menard at PSNH, as y ou

 3 were with regard to calculation of these basis

 4 differentials?

 5 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  Not in great detail, but I re member

 6 having a conversation with you.  When I think the

 7 primary subject of the conversation was getting a ccess

 8 to the Levitan natural gas prices, but that was n ot

 9 possible.  So, we turned to the source that we ha d

10 internally.

11 Q. And, I think, is it -- do recall from that conv ersation

12 that the Company offered to have you send your da ta

13 that you had from Gas Daily  that was the basis of

14 calculating the differentials and to compare that  to

15 the Bloomberg data?

16 A. (McCluskey) No, I don't recall you asking for t he Gas

17 Daily  data.

18 Q. Well, --

19 A. (McCluskey) I seem to -- I think you did ask fo r a copy

20 of my conclusions.

21 Q. I think we offered -- do you recall that we off ered to

22 conduct a comparison using the Bloomberg data to the

23 calculations that you had done using the Gas Dail y

24 data?
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 1 A. (McCluskey) I don't recall that, no.

 2 Q. So, you don't recall the Company offering to ma ke that

 3 comparison and your declining?

 4 A. (McCluskey) I don't.  In fact, we had requested  that --

 5 the Company actually did do a version of this exh ibit

 6 with the Levitan gas prices as the basis of that.   The

 7 problem was, we couldn't verify the numbers, beca use

 8 the Levitan data was confidential.  And, we certa inly

 9 wanted to verify it, because the results that we get

10 from this analysis are different from the results  that

11 Levitan or the Company produced.  So, we wanted t o

12 investigate the source of the differences.  But, since

13 we were not allowed to see that data, we just com pleted

14 the exercise ourselves with the data available to  us.

15 Q. And, Ms. Menard is here, and I may ask to swear  her in

16 once you take the stand, I just want to -- once y ou've

17 concluded your testimony, I want to give you one more

18 chance of this.  So, during that conversation, yo u

19 don't recall her offering to take your calculatio ns and

20 have Levitan compare them to what it had done usi ng the

21 Bloomberg data?

22 A. (McCluskey) Compare them?  We actually have a c opy of

23 the similar exhibit from the Company, which is ba sed on

24 the -- on the Bloomberg data.  That's my understa nding.
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 1 Q. But you couldn't, when we had the phone call, i sn't it

 2 true that you represented that you wanted to see the

 3 underlying data to make the comparison between wh at you

 4 had done and what the Company had done?

 5 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

 6 Q. And, because LAI was not able to release that d ata,

 7 based on its contract with Bloomberg, on that pho ne

 8 call Ms. Menard represented that the Company woul d be

 9 willing to take the information that you had and to

10 have LAI run a comparison, so as to give us some sense

11 of how comparable those data sources were.  Is th at

12 coming back?

13 A. (McCluskey) No, it's not.

14 Q. Okay.  Can you describe the methodology that yo u used

15 to calculate your Exhibit 11?

16 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  If you take a particular data  point

17 that's shown here, take the first column, January  of

18 2010, in January of 2010, there will be certain d ays in

19 that month, perhaps very few, that Newington was

20 dispatched.  And, on those days, there would be g as

21 prices in the data provided by PSNH from Emera.  And,

22 we would take those gas prices, pump them into a

23 spreadsheet.  And, on the very same day that gas was

24 consumed, we'd find the Gas Daily  trading price at
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 1 Dracut, and subtract one from the other, and you' ll

 2 come out with the premium.  So, now, we have to

 3 calculate an average for each of -- for the whole

 4 month.  And, what we do is, we don't take a simpl e

 5 average, because certain days have much more

 6 consumption than other days.  And, hence, you nee d to

 7 -- if you're going to come out with an average

 8 differential, you need to weight them based on th e

 9 consumption in each day.  So, each average price for a

10 particular month in a particular year is a weight ed

11 average price of, one, the difference on each day  in

12 prices and prices times the consumption.  And, we  do

13 that in every column and in every year.

14 Q. Did you include or exclude days when Newington ran for

15 operating reserves when you put together this ana lysis?

16 A. (McCluskey) I believe this analysis reflects ev ery day

17 that gas was consumed by Newington.

18 Q. So, that would include days when Newington ran for

19 testing purposes?

20 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

21 Q. Is it your understanding that Friday trade date s for

22 natural gas are Saturday, Sunday, and Monday flow

23 dates?

24 A. (McCluskey) Could I have the question again?
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 1 Q. Is it your understanding that Friday trade date s for

 2 natural gas are Saturday, Sunday, and Monday flow

 3 dates?

 4 A. (McCluskey) I believe that's the case.

 5 Q. And, that they would all have the same flow day  price?

 6 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

 7 Q. And, are you aware that the Gas Daily  price data for

 8 2010, upon which this is based, had Friday, Satur day,

 9 and Sunday with the same price, but different pri ces

10 for Mondays for most weeks?

11 A. (McCluskey) I think that's the case, yes.

12 Q. So, that would affect the analysis, right?

13 A. (McCluskey) That would be reflected.  Whatever the Gas

14 Daily  price was for a particular day is reflected in

15 this schedule.

16 Q. So, if there would need to be some -- that coul d affect

17 the basis spreads, correct, if the Monday price i s not

18 the accurate price?

19 A. (McCluskey) Well, I'm assuming what's in the re port, in

20 the Gas Daily  report, is the accurate price for that

21 trading point.  And, if I could just kind of comp lete

22 the thought.  The impact would also depend on whe ther

23 Newington actually consumed gas on a Monday.  So,  if

24 there are very few instances of that throughout t his

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
    94

 1 schedule, then this suggested problem would have very

 2 little impact, if there is a problem at all.

 3 Q. I may have -- I'm not sure I asked the question  in a

 4 way that -- I think maybe I was saying one thing and

 5 you were answering another, with regard to the da ta

 6 that you used in your confidential Exhibit 11.  I t

 7 sounds like your understanding is that Friday,

 8 Saturday, and Sunday, and Monday -- I'm sorry,

 9 Saturday, Sunday, and Monday flow dates all have the

10 same price, right?

11 A. (McCluskey) I believe that's the case.

12 Q. Is it possible that when you put your Exhibit 1 1

13 together that you used a different price for some

14 Mondays than the Saturday and Sunday prices?

15 A. (McCluskey) I think I've just said that whateve r the

16 price was in the Gas Daily  for that day is what's

17 reflected in this schedule.

18 Q. Well, if you were incorrect, and did not have t he

19 Monday pricing the same as the Saturday and Sunda y,

20 would that affect the basis spreads that show up in

21 your Exhibit 11?  And, my belief is is that some of

22 those, in the development of your exhibit, that s ome of

23 those dates were off.  That the Monday prices don 't --

24 are not consistent with the Saturday and Sunday.
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 1 MR. SPEIDEL:  Is that a question to Mr.

 2 McCluskey or is that a statement to Mr. McCluskey ?

 3 MS. KNOWLTON:  Well, I just -- I want to

 4 get a sense for whether, you know, what verificat ion he

 5 went through when he developed this.

 6 BY THE WITNESS: 

 7 A. (McCluskey) Well, I've said that, whatever pric e is

 8 reflected on a particular Monday, if gas happened  to

 9 flow on that day, the -- my schedule will reflect  the

10 price that's shown in the Gas Daily .  If there's a --

11 you seem to be suggesting that there's a problem with

12 that.  I'm not sure -- I'm not sure I understand what

13 the problem is.  But all I'm saying is that this

14 schedule reflects the Gas Daily .  And, to the extent

15 that gas flowed on a Monday, within the days refl ected

16 in the schedule, then it's going to reflect the G as

17 Daily  price.

18 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

19 Q. Okay.  I'm going to ask you some questions abou t your

20 testimony yesterday.  You talked about a case run  that

21 LAI had done that showed a net present value bene fit of

22 $37 million.  Do you recall that?

23 A. (McCluskey) Yes, I do.

24 Q. And, that was the data run that LAI performed a t
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 1 Staff's request?

 2 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

 3 Q. And using Staff's assumptions?

 4 A. (McCluskey) Well, there were essentially four c hanges

 5 from the model run that was used to produce the

 6 April 26 revised results.  Two were to correct er rors

 7 that Levitan found as a result of the back-cast

 8 analysis.  So, I wouldn't call those "Staff

 9 assumptions".  Those are their corrections.  One was to

10 do with reflecting the Staff basis spreads for --

11 between Dracut and Newington, which would show, o n

12 confidential Staff Exhibit 11.  I'm hesitant to r ead

13 them out.  Are those confidential?

14 Q. You don't need to read them out.  I guess what I was

15 trying to get at is that, if they did what you as ked

16 them to do, it was your -- how you wanted it run?   It

17 wasn't based on LAI's assumptions, it was based o n the

18 way Staff wanted the scenario run?

19 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  But I'm just correcting your

20 statement that --

21 Q. Okay.

22 A. (McCluskey) -- it was our assumption.

23 Q. Okay.

24 A. (McCluskey) They weren't our assumptions.  Two were
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 1 error corrections, which we asked the Company whe ther

 2 it was going to file a revision to correct those,  and

 3 it said "no".  So, we asked them to do a run whic h

 4 corrected those.  And, in addition, change the ba sis

 5 spreads to the level -- levels that we thought we re

 6 appropriate, and I would add that Levitan, in its

 7 rebuttal testimony, agrees that the basis spreads  used

 8 in the initial model and in the revised model wer e no

 9 longer appropriate.  So, we think it was appropri ate to

10 ask for that change.  And, we also -- the fourth thing

11 we did ask, that the Company run the model with o il to

12 natural gas price ratios are different from what the

13 Company had in the model, and Mr. Arnold has alre ady

14 explained that those ratios were more reflective of the

15 margins between oil and natural gas prices at the  time

16 we were having this discussion with the Company.  So,

17 again, we thought that was an appropriate update to the

18 model.

19 Q. Can you explain how a net present value calcula tion

20 works?

21 A. (Arnold) Can I explain?

22 Q. Sure.

23 A. (Arnold) Okay.  First of all, you start off wit h a

24 string of net cash flows.  What that typically me ans
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 1 is, you add up all revenues related to the projec t or

 2 asset you're evaluating over time.  You add up al l

 3 costs.  You subtract the costs from the revenues.   And,

 4 then, typically, what you will also do is subtrac t any

 5 capital cost items that are related to the projec t at

 6 the appropriate time.  What you end up with is a string

 7 of net cash flows, year zero through whatever the

 8 period is for your analysis, let's say 25 years.  Then,

 9 you will discount each year past year zero, I'm

10 simplifying it here, as always, you can get more

11 complicated in these things, but you discount eac h

12 year's cash flow by the discount rate in the

13 appropriate manner.  So, in year one, if your dis count

14 rate is 10 percent, you discount that cash flow b y

15 10 percent.  And, in the second year, you discoun t it

16 by what's essentially the square of 10 percent, t o come

17 back at the present value, today's value, of that

18 string of cash flows.  And, --

19 Q. Mr. Arnold -- I'm sorry, continue.

20 A. (Arnold) Okay.

21 MR. SPEIDEL:  Well, --

22 WITNESS ARNOLD:  I could keep going.

23 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

24 Q. I wasn't trying to -- I apologize for interrupt ing you.
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 1 If you want to say more, I don't mean to stop you

 2 there.

 3 A. (Arnold) I love -- I give courses on this.  

 4 Q. Okay.  All right.  Well, I have actually a reas onable

 5 question, so we probably just need the short vers ion, I

 6 think which you just gave us.

 7 A. (Arnold) Okay.

 8 Q. Do you recall yesterday, there was some testimo ny about

 9 the net present benefits being 37 million under t his

10 re-run that was done at Staff's request?

11 A. (Arnold) Yes.  Which I call the "second revised  model

12 run".

13 Q. And, there was some testimony, I believe, that the

14 average would be -- of benefits would be $3.7 mil lion a

15 year, based on that $37 million NPV.  Do you reca ll

16 hearing that?

17 A. (McCluskey) Yes, if I could respond to that.  I  stated

18 that, very roughly, the average would be $3.7 mil lion.

19 And, I did state that the $37 million was a prese nt

20 value number.  And, hence, the -- divided by ten,  is a

21 very rough calculation.  The purpose of that was to

22 just provide an indication of how those annual ne t

23 benefits compared with the returns on investment.

24 Q. And, stated in that way, the $3.7 million per y ear, I
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 1 mean, that actually shortchanges the benefit as i t

 2 would actually be realized, right?

 3 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.  In nominal terms, it --

 4 certainly, the further out you would get, it woul d be

 5 higher.

 6 A. (Arnold) The numbers are bigger than 3.7 in the

 7 beginning, smaller than 3.7 near the end of the s tring.

 8 But they all will add up to 37.

 9 A. (McCluskey) On a present value basis.

10 A. (Arnold) Right.  To come to a present value.

11 Q. And, I just -- I don't think I asked you this e arlier.

12 Neither of you have conducted a CUO before, right ?

13 A. (McCluskey) Well, you asked us this in discover y.  And,

14 the response was, neither Mr. Arnold nor myself h ave

15 actually conducted a continued unit operation stu dy.

16 However, as Mr. Hachey said, in effect, this is - -

17 continued unit operation studies, by the way, don 't

18 have to be done on a stochastic basis.  They can be

19 done on a deterministic basis.  And, I have

20 participated in the development of valuation exer cises

21 for Seabrook and Millstone, while I worked at LaC apra,

22 doing a DCF analysis.  And, also, while working f or the

23 Commission, I've done extensive review of the DCF  model

24 that was presented by both PSNH and Laidlaw in th e
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 1 Laidlaw Project.  So, I've done reasonably extens ive

 2 work on assisting in the development of DCF analy ses or

 3 reviewing them.

 4 Q. Mr. Arnold?

 5 A. (Arnold) Yes.  I have never done anything calle d a

 6 "Continued Unit Operation Study.  However, I have  done

 7 probably a couple hundred valuation analyses, som e

 8 deterministic, many stochastic-based, in other wo rds,

 9 accounting for uncertainty and risk, that are ver y

10 similar in terms of what they do.  Trying to unde rstand

11 what today's value of an asset will be as it goes

12 forward into the future.

13 Q. And, is most of your experience, Mr. Arnold, in  the

14 petrochemical industry?

15 A. (Arnold) No.  This is -- I work mostly in refin ing, and

16 that's probably 30 percent of my work.  I do a lo t of

17 work with biofuels.  And, there's been a number o f

18 biofuels to power projects there, certainly, in t he

19 last four or five years.  I do work some in

20 petrochemicals.  I also will do the same for some  hard

21 asset evaluations related to M&A work.  So, --

22 Q. How would you break down the other 70 percent?

23 A. (Arnold) Of my work?

24 Q. Yes.
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 1 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Let me see here.  Let me make s ure it

 2 adds up to 100 at the end.  So, just a second her e.  I

 3 would say it's 30 percent related to refining, an d that

 4 -- and 30 percent related to biomass and producti on.

 5 And, in "production", I'm talking about oil produ ction,

 6 natural gas production, and so on.  Thirty (30) p ercent

 7 then is related to a blend of things.  It could b e

 8 biomass to chemicals, biomass to power,

 9 pharmaceuticals.  I do quite a bit of portfolio

10 analysis for R&D projects for pharmaceutical comp anies,

11 or at least I help them set up models that they u se.  I

12 would like to note that a number of the refining

13 projects I've worked on include power production.

14 Q. So, are we at 90 percent?

15 A. (Arnold) No.  Oh, we're up to 90.  Let's make t hat last

16 group "40".

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. (Arnold) Thank you.  You caught me.

19 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'd like to mark for

20 identification as "PSNH 22" a response to a data request,

21 Staff 1-70.

22 (Atty. Eaton distributing documents.) 

23 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  So, we'll mark for

24 identification the response to 1-70 as "PSNH 22".
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 1 (The document, as described, was 

 2 herewith marked as PSNH Exhibit 22 for 

 3 identification.) 

 4 BY MS. KNOWLTON: 

 5 Q. Do you have that before you, Mr. Arnold?

 6 A. (Arnold) Yes, I do.

 7 Q. This is a chart that is listing out LAI's exper ience

 8 with regard to forecast of wholesale market price s in

 9 New England.  And, I'm just wondering, do you hav e any

10 expertise that's similar to this that we can note  for

11 the record?

12 A. (Arnold) Well, I -- 

13 Q. You know, where you've had a regulatory proceed ing with

14 a docket, you know, where you've provided a forec ast?

15 A. (Arnold) For a regulatory proceeding, that's si milar to

16 this?  No.

17 Q. You know, a state commission or the FERC or --

18 A. (Arnold) Neither of those.

19 Q. Okay.  Mr. McCluskey, do you --

20 A. (Arnold) Although, -- 

21 Q. Sorry.

22 A. (Arnold) -- I have provided a number of forecas ts for

23 government agencies, such as the Department of En ergy,

24 or various Departments of Energies.
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 1 Q. Back to you, Mr. McCluskey.

 2 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

 3 Q. Do you have your testimony before you?

 4 A. (McCluskey) Yes, I do.

 5 Q. If you would go to Page 28.

 6 A. (McCluskey) Okay.

 7 Q. Yesterday you made a change to your testimony t o take

 8 out the references, Lines 4 and 7, I believe, wit h

 9 regard to the installation of the need to install  or

10 the requirement that the Company install an activ ated

11 carbon injection system at Newington Station.  Do  you

12 recall that?

13 A. (McCluskey) I do.

14 Q. And, when you put together this testimony, you had --

15 your testimony had some estimates about what the costs

16 would be to meet those requirements, is that righ t?

17 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

18 Q. And, we had asked you in discovery about those costs,

19 the 20 million figure?

20 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

21 Q. And, you had indicated in your testimony that - - we had

22 asked you how you derived that figure, and you ha d

23 indicated that you had obtained that from Conserv ation

24 Law Foundation's lawyer, Mr. Peress, is that righ t?
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 1 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  That's correct.  In preparing  this

 2 testimony, I did have occasion to call Mr. Peress  to

 3 seek his input on the costs of activated carbon

 4 injection systems.  Which, at the time, I thought  was a

 5 potential system that the Company might need to i nstall

 6 in order to address the requirements of Utility M ACT.

 7 Q. But you didn't, as I understand it, yesterday r emove

 8 these numbers in terms of the level of investment  that

 9 you thought was required at Newington Station?

10 A. (McCluskey) I didn't.  And, it's for this reaso n.  And,

11 actually, on Line 3, this paragraph begins by sta ting

12 "if we assume for illustrative purposes".  So,

13 essentially, what I was trying to do was to estim ate

14 what would be the net effect of, if the Company w ere to

15 have to install a system of this type, that would  cost

16 $20 million capital, and have ongoing annual cost s of

17 half a million dollars.  The idea was simply to s ay

18 "this could be the impact on the net benefit of

19 $37 million, if this kind of system was to be ins talled

20 at these costs."  It was intended just for illust rative

21 purpose.  It was nothing else.  And, I think the

22 testimony is fairly clear that it was intended to  be a

23 guide, if the magnitude of the impact that such a  cost

24 would have on the ten year present value.  So, I didn't
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 1 think there was any need to remove these cost

 2 estimates.  This cost estimate could, whatever sy stem,

 3 if -- let me back up.  If Utility MACT were to ap ply to

 4 Newington, and they were required to install a sy stem

 5 to control emissions, and the cost of that system  were

 6 to be in the $20 million range, with additional a nnual

 7 expenses, then the reduction in net present value , from

 8 37 to $19 million, is the kind of outcome that we  would

 9 expect.  That was the only purpose of the testimo ny.

10 MS. KNOWLTON:  I've concluded my

11 examination of these witnesses.

12 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Thank you.  Let's

13 keep moving on a bit longer before we take a brea k.  We

14 may be able to conclude and not need to come back .  So,

15 Commissioner Harrington.  

16 CMSR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you.

17 BY CMSR. HARRINGTON: 

18 Q. Just to kind of maybe clean up the results on t his

19 issue that seems to keep coming up over and over again

20 on the "operating to produce energy" versus "oper ating"

21 -- or "running for operating reserves".  There wa s a --

22 I guess part of the testimony in Staff Exhibit 1 that's

23 now been retracted, that that was a problem.  So,  what

24 you're saying now is that, because when someone r uns
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 1 for operating reserves, ISO basically makes them whole

 2 for the additional cost that they have for being

 3 holding back power, say for 30 minute spinning re serve.

 4 That, in the modeling world, that comes out the s ame as

 5 if they were actually dispatched for economic pur poses?

 6 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.  It might be a bett er way

 7 to think about, assume that the Newington had bee n

 8 called by the ISO to dispatch in hours that it wo uldn't

 9 dispatch in order to make a profit.  And, as a re sult,

10 it ran and received revenues that fell short of t heir

11 actual variable costs, the ISO will compensate th em for

12 that.  The concern was that, in the development o f that

13 compensation, it was Staff's understanding that t hey

14 would take into account the profits from those

15 profitable hours in determining what the amount o f

16 compensation would be.  And, if that were the cas e,

17 then that would impact the net revenues.  For var ious

18 technical reasons, based on the advice of the ISO , that

19 is not actually the case.  And, as a result, I

20 retracted that part of the testimony.

21 Q. Okay.  There's been a lot of discussion of the capacity

22 factor at Newington.  And, what was it at about f ive

23 years ago?

24 A. (McCluskey) Five years ago?  Where have I got t hat?  If

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
   108

 1 you just give me a moment, Commissioner.  There i s a

 2 schedule in the -- let's see if it's this one.  O kay.

 3 If you turn to, this is in the original filing, w hich I

 4 think is PSNH Exhibit 1, I believe.  And, you go to the

 5 Continuing Unit Operation Study.  And, on Page 21 ,

 6 which is Bates numbered 000204.  And, it's "Exhib it

 7 G.3".  You'll see, in the first column, all the d ata

 8 that you need for the capacity factor.

 9 Q. And, so, if we go back to 2003, 2004, 2005, the

10 capacity factors were substantially higher than t hey

11 are now?

12 A. (McCluskey) That's certainly the case, yes.

13 Q. Okay.  In all of these studies that have been l ooked at

14 there, now we have a capacity factor that's gone down

15 from what might be even to say is somewhat of a

16 baseloaded plant to something that is a peaker at  best,

17 or one that mostly runs for operating reserves.  Are

18 you aware of any staff reductions at the plant du ring

19 that time, permanent reductions of staff, to refl ect

20 the new, much lower capacity factors?

21 A. (McCluskey) I'm not aware of that.  I don't get

22 involved in energy service cases, which is probab ly

23 where that kind of information would be found.

24 Q. Well, just to follow up on that, it would seem like, if
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 1 a plant was running at 50 percent, it would requi re

 2 more people than if it was running at 3 or 4 perc ent.

 3 Does that seem to make sense?

 4 A. (McCluskey) You would think that's the case, bu t --

 5 Q. Well, we'll just leave it at that then.

 6 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

 7 Q. In your testimony, you talked about a 9 to $10 million

 8 a year return on rate base.  What's the exact pag e

 9 here?

10 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  If you go to Exhibit G.1, of the same

11 document.  Page 13.

12 Q. You're in 13 of which exhibit?

13 A. (McCluskey) This is the Continuing Unit Operati on

14 Study.

15 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Although, G.1 is one

16 of those that was revised --

17 CMSR. HARRINGTON:  Yes.

18 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  -- and supplemented

19 in the supplemental testimony of Mr. Levitan, was  it not?

20 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Yes.

21 BY CMSR. HARRINGTON: 

22 Q. I was referring to your testimony, though?

23 A. (McCluskey) I know.

24 Q. Yes.
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 1 A. (McCluskey) But my statement about the "return to rate

 2 base" are based on the Company's numbers.  And, t he

 3 source of those numbers is Exhibit G.1, which is

 4 Page 13.

 5 Q. Okay.  And, is this one of those -- is this one  of

 6 those revised tables?

 7 A. (McCluskey) Well, I can tell you, Commissioners , that

 8 the revisions had very -- they may have had small

 9 impacts on these numbers, but very, very small.

10 Q. Okay.  So, what you had stated was that, in the  9 to

11 $10 million a year range was a return on the rate  base

12 going forward, based on the undepreciated cost of  the

13 plant?

14 A. (McCluskey) Well, so, that the -- if you look a t the

15 row which says "Return on Rate Base", you'll see it was

16 over 10, and it's fallen to 8.7 in 2009.  2010, b y the

17 way, is a half year, so you shouldn't really take  that

18 into account.  So, what's actually going to happe n

19 going forward is that the rate base will, on one side,

20 continue -- will be added to as they add capital,  and

21 it will also be depreciated.  So, going forward, the

22 actual return on rate base will depend on the bal ance

23 between those two items, and, obviously, if the r eturn

24 that's allowed is also changed, that's going to i mpact
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 1 the return on rate base as well.  

 2 But I'm saying is, unless they really

 3 begin to depreciate this thing very fast, for the

 4 foreseeable future, you're going to see returns o n rate

 5 base of this kind of magnitude, 8 to $10 million.

 6 Q. Okay.  And, what I'm trying to get to here is, if the

 7 plant were to be closed, that amount would still be

 8 left, as far as I guess we call it "stranded cost s".

 9 Would that then play out about the same way, with  maybe

10 no new additional capital costs going in, if the plant

11 was closed.  But they would still be depreciating  the

12 rate base.  Would that basically work the same, t hat 8

13 to $10 million a year?

14 A. (McCluskey) Well, this is a really critical iss ue, what

15 you said, "if the plant were to be closed."

16 Q. Uh-huh.

17 A. (McCluskey) If it was still a regulated plant, and it

18 was closed because of economic obsolescence, --

19 Q. Uh-huh.

20 A. (McCluskey) -- then the issue is, which is addr essed,

21 by the way, in this Trojan decision in Oregon, do es the

22 undepreciated investment stay in rate base for a plant

23 that's no longer used and useful?  And, if it doe s stay

24 in rate base, then they will continue to deprecia te it,
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 1 and the return will correspond to whatever the

 2 undepreciated investment is.

 3 If it's determined that the

 4 undepreciated investment should be taken out of r ate

 5 base, then the return could be zero.  Another opt ion

 6 would be, well, we should have -- they should hav e a

 7 lower return on the undepreciated investment to

 8 recognize the fact that the plant is no longer

 9 providing useful service.

10 Q. Okay.  I think I understand what you're saying then.

11 But it couldn't go any higher than depreciating t he

12 full amount after the plant was closed down, that  would

13 be the maximum size?

14 A. (McCluskey) Going forward, even if it's closed down,

15 there's probably going to be costs that continues  to be

16 incurred.  And, so, they would probably want to

17 depreciate that.  So, I think it's probably not g oing

18 to change too much, but it's still -- it's roughl y

19 whatever the balance is at the time of closure.  That's

20 going to get depreciated over some appropriate ti me

21 period.

22 Q. And, going to Page 28 of Staff Exhibit 1.

23 A. (McCluskey) If I could just finish on this?

24 Q. Yes, sir.
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 1 A. (McCluskey) What we're talking about there is a  return

 2 on rate base.  We're not talking about whether th e

 3 Company would be allowed to depreciate the plant.

 4 That's a different issue.  They would recover two  --

 5 they have got two cost streams; one is recovering  the

 6 investment in the plant, and that perhaps could

 7 continue, but the return on the undepreciated

 8 investment is another stream of revenues, and tha t

 9 really is the issue in this type of case and in t he

10 case of uneconomic plants, which I would not call

11 "stranded costs", because "stranded cost" is some thing

12 where it's what's left, it's what's not recovered  when

13 there's an instruction to divest the power plant.

14 That's how we've used that term in this state.  H ere,

15 this is still a regulated asset that just happens  to be

16 uneconomic.  So, it's not a "stranded cost".  It' s just

17 an unrecovered investment.

18 Q. All right.  Thank you.  On Page 28, at the bott om of

19 the page, and whoever is most appropriate to answ er the

20 question, please do.  It talks about "as of year of --

21 "As of end of year 2010, Newington had a total ra te

22 base of $72 million comprising 46 million of net plant

23 and 25 million of fuel oil inventory."  And, then , you

24 go on to assume a little bit, "the net plant inve stment
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 1 is fully depreciated over the 10 year period, fue l

 2 inventory is expensed in equal amounts, we estima te

 3 customers would pay approximately $51 million in

 4 depreciation charges in NPV terms."  Now, there w as a

 5 lot of discussion the other day on the value of t hat

 6 fuel oil.  And, first, let me start with, is the "$25

 7 million" you refer to here, is that what the book  value

 8 of the fuel oil is, i.e. what they paid for it?

 9 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

10 Q. Okay.  And, since we know that fuel oil prices have

11 gone up substantially over the last couple of yea rs,

12 what would happen if they sold that oil for a

13 substantially higher price?  In other words,

14 market-based prices that were, let's say, double the

15 $25 million?

16 A. (McCluskey) Well, that's what happens in the ne xt

17 sentence.  We say, "However, drawing down the fue l

18 inventory and selling the product at market value  would

19 produce offsetting savings for customers", which,  in

20 this particular example, we estimated would be

21 "$17 million".

22 Now, if you assume that the market price

23 is at twice what I assumed in this analysis, then  it

24 would be twice the offsetting savings.  So, yes,
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 1 depending on what you can get for that product, w ould

 2 affect this particular calculation that I did.

 3 Q. So, you're using -- the $17 million figure ther e was

 4 assuming you sold it for what it was bought at?

 5 A. (McCluskey) No.  I believe I may have used a ma rket

 6 price, but I can't recall at this point.  I can p rovide

 7 you that information, if you wish?

 8 Q. All right.  Thank you.

 9 A. (McCluskey) Do you want that information?

10 Q. Yes.

11 A. (McCluskey) Okay.

12 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  So, why don't we

13 make that a Staff record request.

14 MR. SPEIDEL:  It would be Exhibit 12.

15 MS. DENO:  Thirteen.

16 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Number 13?  Thank

17 you.

18 MR. SPEIDEL:  Oh, I'm sorry, 13.

19 (Staff Exhibit 13 reserved.) 

20 MR. SPEIDEL:  Oh, yes.  Thirteen.

21 BY CMSR. HARRINGTON: 

22 Q. Do you agree with Mr. Hachey that, if the plant  were

23 closed, the possible revenue source for up to, yo u

24 know, not to exceed three years, could be selling  the
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 1 Newington's capacity supply obligation into the

 2 reconfiguration auction in the Forward Capacity M arket?

 3 A. (McCluskey) I neither agree or disagree.  That' s not my

 4 area of expertise.

 5 Q. Okay.

 6 A. (McCluskey) So, I can't really comment on that.

 7 Q. Okay.  On Page 19 of the Staff's testimony, thi s may be

 8 more appropriate for Mr. Arnold.  On Line 15, it says,

 9 "the model continued to overestimate 2010 energy net

10 reserves [revenues ?] by about 1.2 million or

11 45 percent."  Now, given that no model is going t o be

12 100 percent accurate, what would you expect to se e as

13 an acceptable range?  Is 45 percent -- is 45 perc ent

14 very good?  Or, should you expect 5 percent?  Or,  can

15 you give me some idea on that?

16 A. (McCluskey) I'll let Mr. Arnold respond to that .

17 A. (Arnold) I have a benchmark that I apply based on

18 experience.  And, for models where you're testing  both

19 the forecast and the intrinsic model, I'm used to

20 seeing plus or minus 30 percent.  Now, that's -- that's

21 a little fuzzy.  You can imagine that, you know,

22 there's some give there.  But, and I also go -- I  also

23 note in my report, or maybe even here in the test imony,

24 well, certainly in my report that I delivered to
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 1 George, I note that some investors might find thi s

 2 acceptable.  So, -- the 45 percent level.

 3 Q. But, in your opinion --

 4 A. (Arnold) Just in my personal benchmark is just 30.

 5 And, again, I didn't have the ability to go into the

 6 statistical analysis here.  It may be that, becau se of

 7 the forecast that was used, it would have been ve ry

 8 difficult to get to that level of precision.

 9 Q. Okay.  Thank you.  On the same exhibit, Staff E xhibit

10 1, Page 14, there's a question that starts out --  I'll

11 wait till you get there.  Are you all set or -- 

12 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

13 Q. Okay.  "Do you accept LAI's representation of t he

14 appropriate economic analysis for the CUO Study?"   And,

15 without reading the whole thing, it says "We disa gree."

16 And, then, down the bottom of the page, starting at

17 Line 17, it talks about "PSNH's assertion contrad icts

18 the FERC Uniform System of Accounts."  Could you just

19 maybe put that in a little bit more layman's term s what

20 you're saying at the bottom of that page?

21 A. (McCluskey) Well, in effect, what we're saying is that,

22 if a plant is retired for economic reasons, then the

23 accounting treatment results in a plant balance, an

24 asset balance of zero, which, in effect, eliminat es the
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 1 depreciation.  That's essentially what we're sayi ng

 2 here.

 3 For completeness, we have responded to a

 4 discovery response on that issue, where we say --  where

 5 we were asked "are we saying that the Company wou ld not

 6 be able to recover its undepreciated investment o ver

 7 time?"  And, we said "no, we're not saying that."

 8 Typically, what happens is, in future rate cases,  where

 9 there's a new depreciation study, there's an

10 opportunity for the Company to come back and reco ver

11 that through the mechanism of the depreciation st udy.

12 However, there's also the opportunity for the Sta ff of

13 the Commission to recommend that that opportunity  be

14 denied.  So, essentially, it leaves the door open  to

15 the recovery of depreciation.

16 Q. So, if I can put it in a nutshell then, that an y

17 depreciation revenues that would -- may or may no t be

18 realized after a plant is closed or retired for

19 economic reasons are not a given, but they're sub ject

20 to further proceedings?

21 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.

22 Q. Okay.  Thank you.  This is sort of a different

23 question, but just one I had open.  Going to Exhi bit 1,

24 Staff Exhibit 8, which is attached to that, Page 57.
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 1 And, there's a chart there called "Newington Stat ion

 2 Comparison of Revenue Requirements and Market

 3 Revenues".

 4 A. (McCluskey) Exhibit 7?

 5 Q. Staff Exhibit 7, I'm sorry.  Yes.

 6 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

 7 Q. Page 57, attached to Exhibit 1.

 8 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  Got it.

 9 Q. Okay.  In the column for "2010", which is the l ast one

10 on the right, if we go down under "Revenues", it talks

11 about, going all the way across, "Energy", and it  says

12 "21,459,000".  Then, going down a couple of lines  it

13 says "Auxiliary", which is "254,000".  And, maybe  I'm

14 just confused here, but I thought that all the

15 discussion has been that, especially in the year 2010,

16 that the plant was being operated mostly not to s ell

17 energy, but to sell auxiliary services in the for m of,

18 you know, operating reserves.  So, is this -- am I just

19 misreading those numbers?  It seems like most of the

20 revenue came from the sale of energy.

21 A. (McCluskey) Well, the most accurate response wo uld be,

22 I don't know where the compensation that the Comp any

23 received for operating reserves appears in these

24 numbers.  I suspect it may be in the energy reven ue.
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 1 Q. Well, let me maybe clarify it this way.  I gues s, would

 2 I be correct in assuming then that, looking at th ese

 3 figures, that most of the time that the plant is

 4 running for operating reserves, it's also running  at a

 5 high enough energy level so its major flow of

 6 compensation comes in the form of energy payments , and

 7 not operating reserve payments?  Let me give you an

 8 example.  If it was running at, I can't remember the

 9 size of the plant, say it's 400 megawatts, if it was

10 running at 200 megawatts, with 200 being 30 minut e

11 spinning reserves, it would be compensated for

12 200 megawatts it was running in energy, and then it

13 would be made whole on the amount of money they'r e

14 getting from the reserves.  So, is it safe to say  that

15 most of the time they were running as reserves, t hey

16 were still getting a large portion of their reven ue in

17 the form of energy?

18 A. (McCluskey) I think it would be safe to pose th at

19 question to the Company, Commissioner.

20 Q. Okay.  All right.  Fair enough.  Okay.  Getting  to

21 Staff Exhibit 11, this is the confidential gas on e.

22 Just to start out with, can you just define the t erms

23 you use, without going into any numbers there,

24 "weighted average 2006 to 2011"?  Are these -- th ose
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 1 are actuals that you calculated, where you got th e

 2 "March-December" and the "January-February" figur e?

 3 A. (McCluskey) So, you're referring -- you're refe rring to

 4 the "weighted average 2006-2011" number?

 5 Q. Yes.

 6 A. (McCluskey) Actuals that -- yes.

 7 Q. Okay.

 8 A. (McCluskey) They are actual prices from Emera, less

 9 Dracut prices.

10 Q. And, what's the -- now, what is the "Staff 2010

11 Calculation" mean?  Was that a looking forward to  2010?

12 I'm a little confused of the reference there.

13 A. (McCluskey) Oh, no.  What actually happened is,  when we

14 had them re-run the model, we changed the basis p rices.

15 And, the calculation that we did was based just o n

16 2010.  And, so, those numbers that you see, for M arch

17 and December and January and February, is what th ey

18 used in the re-run.  Then, I went back and did a six

19 year calculation.  And, for some reason, for 2010 , I'm

20 getting slightly different numbers than what I go t when

21 I first did 2010.  So, --

22 Q. So, the 2010 is part of the weighted average th at

23 appears with 2006 to 2011, so it wouldn't necessa rily

24 be exactly the same, correct?  
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 1 A. (McCluskey) It wouldn't be the same.  But, if y ou also

 2 move your eye up to the row "2010", --

 3 Q. Uh-huh.

 4 A. (McCluskey) You'll see a number that -- that is

 5 slightly different for March-December than the St aff

 6 2010 calculation.

 7 Q. Right.  That was going to be my next question.  What

 8 accounts for that?

 9 A. (McCluskey) I never did get to find the differe nce

10 between those.  I thought I was using the same Em era

11 prices and the same Dracut prices.  So, I don't k now

12 what the answer is to that.  It's pretty close on  the

13 "January-February".  But why it's slightly off fo r

14 "March-December", I don't know the answer.

15 Q. And, the one that was -- the number that was ac tually

16 used in the Staff requested re-run, which came ou t with

17 the 37. something million dollars, that was the o ne

18 that's across from the line that says "Staff 2010

19 Calculation"?

20 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.  In fact, the two n umbers

21 were used, the "March-December" number and the

22 "January-February" number.

23 Q. Okay.

24 MR. SPEIDEL:  And, Mr. McCluskey, just
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 1 state for the record what unit of measurement is supplied

 2 within this table.  

 3 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Yes.  I think

 4 yesterday I said "cents per MMBtu".  I meant to s ay

 5 "dollars per MMBtu".

 6 BY CMSR. HARRINGTON: 

 7 Q. Okay.  And, on Page 12 of your, again, we're go ing to

 8 Staff Exhibit 1, on the bottom of the page, start ing

 9 with Line 17, it says "Stated more succinctly, ov er

10 this time period the costs incurred by [the] cust omers

11 have exceeded the benefits received.  Accordingly , the

12 plant has not been part of PSNH's generation -- h ad

13 been not part of PSNH's generation fleet during t his

14 time period customers would have paid less for th eir

15 power needs."  Do you, after all that's been said  back

16 and forth for the last few days, do you still sta nd by

17 that statement?

18 A. (McCluskey) Yes.

19 Q. And, having said that, going to Page 30, where it says

20 "What do you recommend?"  And, the conclusion, in

21 short, is that "Staff is unable to state definiti vely

22 that customers would be better off if Newington

23 continues to operate or is retired.  For this rea son,

24 we make no recommendation."  Am I correct in assu ming
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 1 that the statement you just made is looking back over a

 2 period of time which you had documentation to act ual

 3 figures to work with, and your conclusion was tha t the

 4 customers would have paid less for energy if the plant

 5 had not been operated.

 6 But, in this case, you're saying, you're

 7 looking to the future, and without the access to the

 8 different information of the uncertainties that y ou say

 9 above here, that is why you can make no recommend ation

10 as to where to go forward?

11 A. (McCluskey) Exactly.

12 Q. Other people have made recommendations that a n ew study

13 should be done.  Would you then have no opinion o n

14 whether an additional study should be done, a sec ond

15 Continuing Operating Study?

16 A. (McCluskey) We're not opposed to that recommend ation to

17 have an independent study done.  I think the issu e

18 really is in the Commission's hands.  What here

19 we've -- Staff is saying, "because we can't get a ccess,

20 we can't make a definitive conclusion about the

21 economics going forward.  And, so, where do we go  from

22 here?"  If you really want to nail this down, we really

23 believe an independent study would be the most

24 appropriate thing.
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 1 CMSR. HARRINGTON:  All right.  Thank

 2 you.  That's all the questions I had.

 3 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Thank you.

 4 Commissioner Scott.

 5 CMSR. SCOTT:  Good afternoon.

 6 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Good afternoon.

 7 BY CMSR. SCOTT: 

 8 Q. So, I'll start with Mr. McCluskey.  And, going back to

 9 the confidential Staff Exhibit 11, which you just

10 discussed.  I was just curious, again, without

11 mentioning the numbers, but the weighted average

12 percentages, obviously, as you've kind of talked to,

13 there's a significant difference in the

14 "March-December" percentages?

15 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  You're talking about the seco nd from

16 the bottom line?

17 Q. Yes.

18 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  In effect, what we're saying is, our

19 numbers indicate that, relative to what Staff

20 calculated in 2010, the average for the six years  for

21 "March-December" is not too far off, but it's bel ow.

22 Whereas, for "January-February", which is a less

23 critical period versus less volume of production in

24 those months, the figure that we used was way too  low.

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
   126

 1 However, that's only based on two years.  So, tha t's

 2 the downside.  And, that we've got more data for

 3 "March-December" to produce the percentage that w e've

 4 got than we had for "January and February".  And,  why

 5 is that?  Because there's really not a lot of act ivity

 6 until the last couple of years in those months on

 7 Newington.

 8 Q. So, is there a conclusion that you've drawn or should

 9 be drawn from this or you recommend be drawn from  this?

10 A. (McCluskey) Well, this was done to respond to t he

11 criticism that our 2010 prices were not well supp orted.

12 And, we think they are well supported based on th is, on

13 this schedule.  And, that's the only benefit, tha t's

14 the only use it has.  We're not asking them to re -run

15 the model again.  But we're just saying that the basis

16 differentials that we had them use are pretty wel l in

17 the ballpark based on a six year average.  I woul dn't

18 necessarily agree that a six year average is

19 appropriate.  I think more recent times, in my mi nd, is

20 appropriate.  And, if you have a look at those nu mbers,

21 for the very recent years, they're all in the bal lpark

22 for "March-December".  So, I think the bottom lin e is,

23 though, I think our numbers are well supported.

24 Q. Thank you.  Mr. Arnold, I just want to get your
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 1 opinion.  I think I had talked to -- asked Mr. Ha chey,

 2 I had some concerns in my mind, looking at the

 3 iterations, if you will, of the net present value

 4 calculations, they're halved from Exhibit 1, if I

 5 remember, and then half again and half again.  In  your

 6 opinion, is that to be expected?  Is that a norma l

 7 sequence of events?

 8 A. (Arnold) From my perspective, it's not normal, you

 9 know, in terms of the use of a final model that's  used

10 to make a decision.  No.

11 Q. Okay.  And, perhaps you just answered this.  An d,

12 should the Commission be concerned with that type  of

13 outcome?

14 A. (Arnold) Yes.  I think so.

15 CMSR. SCOTT:  Okay.  And, that's all I

16 had.  Everything else has already been asked and answered.

17 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  I had a

18 few others questions.

19 BY CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS: 

20 Q. Mr. Arnold, if you take away the issues of acce ss to

21 data and some uncertainty in your ability to veri fy

22 results, you were to set that issue aside, what a re the

23 major findings of your study, of your report?  Wh at are

24 the sort of key conclusions that you draw on that  we
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 1 should be aware of?

 2 A. (Arnold) I'm assuming I should emphasize what I  think

 3 is important to you to make decisions.

 4 Q. Sure.

 5 A. (Arnold) Okay.  Because a lot of my comments we re

 6 related to model complexity and so on, --

 7 Q. And, that's the part that --

 8 A. (Arnold) You don't care about that.

 9 Q. -- doesn't sink into my head very well.  

10 A. (Arnold) Yes.  Right.

11 Q. It's what to make of all of that.

12 A. (Arnold) Well, I think the key point here is th at you

13 still don't have a solid handle, for a number of

14 reasons, on today's net present value of the Newi ngton

15 asset.  And, I think you need one to make a decis ion.

16 And, I think, to get a good estimate, and I think  a

17 good estimate is going to be a range of values.  I'm,

18 obviously, a proponent of stochastic, you know,

19 probabilistic-type approaches, because what you g et is

20 a histogram.  You know, you get something like th is in

21 terms of NPV.  The most likely NPVs, the probable

22 lowest, the probable highest.  It gives you a goo d

23 feel, right there in the middle, of what you're l ikely

24 to have in terms of that value.  And, what the lo west
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 1 could be, what the best could be.  I think you ne ed

 2 that to make a decision.  I would recommend that you

 3 define, with advice, what goes in to that calcula tion.

 4 What's in and out of the calculation that determi nes

 5 the net cash flow of that asset.

 6 Now, I think net cash flow is the way to

 7 make decisions.  If you want to use an accounting

 8 basis, fine.  But you still have to -- I think th at the

 9 design of the model, in the balance, what goes in  it,

10 what's out, has to come as part of the directions  from

11 the Commission.

12 Q. Mr. McCluskey, you've reviewed the report.  Do you have

13 anything to add in response to that question of w hat

14 are the -- if you take out the issues about acces s and

15 some of the "could have done it this way", "could  have

16 done it that way", but the sort of major conclusi ons

17 drawn from the report, anything else to add?

18 A. (McCluskey) No.  I think what you took out took  away my

19 major conclusions, the main thing.  We just can't  tell

20 you whether this produces reasonable results, bec ause

21 we were not allowed to get access to really test this

22 model.  And, by taking that out, I think you've t aken

23 out the primary conclusion that we had.  If we ha d

24 gotten access, the report could have had somethin g
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 1 really useful to say, in terms of whether we thin k this

 2 plant is going to be profitable or not going forw ard.

 3 Q. Well, let's assume that you did have access and  it

 4 verified everything.  I know that's a big assumpt ion,

 5 but let's assume that.  What then would the concl usion

 6 you would draw, and could you then make a

 7 recommendation to the Commission?

 8 A. (Arnold) If we -- let's assume, with the change , with

 9 the correction of the errors, and maybe a couple

10 changed assumptions, and it produced this figure of

11 $37 million.  And, we were very happy that, yes, the

12 model has worked reasonably well.  We think that is the

13 correct output for this particular model.  So, no w we

14 know that over ten years, in present value terms,

15 you're going to receive $37 million.  That's bett er

16 than zero.

17 Now, the question is, for the

18 Commissioners, you're going to also pay them, say , $50

19 million in return, pay the Company.  So, customer s are

20 out of pocket $13 million.  What do you want to d o?

21 That's the decision for the Commission.

22 Q. Well, let's talk about that.  In one of the exh ibits,

23 it shows, this is in Staff's Number 1, and that

24 Attachment 7, so, Page 57, shows --
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 1 A. (Arnold) And, just one moment, until I get ther e.

 2 Exhibit -- "Staff Exhibit 7" you said?  

 3 Q. Yes.

 4 MR. SPEIDEL:  No.  Staff Exhibit 1, and

 5 Staff -- Page 57.

 6 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:  Okay.

 7 BY CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS: 

 8 Q. It shows, the second line from the bottom, the "Net

 9 Profit or Loss", over the period 2005 to 2010, an d

10 every year there's a loss ranging from 3.5 to

11 $20.7 million.  That's not the years that it runs , but

12 those are the highs and lows of the net losses.  Does

13 that figure account for the return earned on the plant

14 asset?

15 A. (McCluskey) The return is in there.  It's treat ed as a

16 cost, and along with depreciation, and all the O& M and

17 the fuel costs.  And, then, it's offset with reve nues,

18 market revenues.  And, so, each year you're compa ring

19 the similar costs with some of the revenues on a book

20 basis, which is a little different from -- quite a bit

21 different from a going-forward basis.  So, it's

22 producing, on a regulatory books basis, and that,  in

23 every year, a net loss.

24 Q. Are there reasons that it would be valuable for  a

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
   132

 1 utility to maintain a plant that is consistently losing

 2 money that you can -- that you can explain?

 3 A. (McCluskey) Are there reasons?

 4 Q. Is there value in having a plant, notwithstandi ng the

 5 net loss year after year, is there value to that plant

 6 remaining in a utility's generation fleet?

 7 A. (McCluskey) Well, in addition to generating

 8 electricity, energy --

 9 (Court reporter interruption.) 

10 BY THE WITNESS: 

11 A. (McCluskey) Sorry.  In addition to generating

12 electricity, there's also -- and receiving energy

13 revenues, there's also a capacity benefit, which is

14 reflected in the revenue side.  If you retire a p lant

15 like that, that's going to impact the regional

16 reliability market.  And, so, if we were in a sho rtage

17 period, then that might be an issue.  If we're in  a

18 surplus period, then it might be less of an issue .

19 BY CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS: 

20 Q. Are you making any recommendation as to the val ue of

21 the Newington plant in meeting capacity needs for  the

22 region?

23 A. (McCluskey) No.  In this proceeding, we've trie d to

24 stay on the issue of the economics of going forwa rd.
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 1 We're not making any recommendation in relation t o

 2 continued operation.  Even though this analysis i s all

 3 about continued operation, our objective has been  to

 4 try to get a reasonable value of continued operat ion.

 5 And, if, as a result of that, the Commission thin ks we

 6 need to go to another proceeding, then those kind  of

 7 questions should be addressed in another proceedi ng.

 8 We're not making any recommendation about retirem ent,

 9 or continued operation, for that matter.

10 Q. Looking at PSNH 19, which was the response to a  data

11 request or a Tech Session Request 8.  And, on tha t

12 third page that you have "Revised Start Fuel Data "

13 included.

14 A. (McCluskey) Just one moment.  Okay.  Yes.

15 Q. You may have already answered this, I'm not sur e.  Do

16 you have any understanding why the expected value  on

17 net revenue of nearly $5 million, that that was t he

18 expected value and revenue, and the expected numb er of

19 starts was only "32", and yet the actual number o f

20 starts was "123", and yet the net revenue was ver y low,

21 far below the expected value, was down to about

22 1.5 million.  Can you explain that?

23 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  Let's start with the starts.  The "32

24 starts" relates to economic dispatch.  Remember, so
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 1 we're dealing with the model now, under the "Expe cted

 2 Value" column.  And, they modeled this on the bas is of

 3 the economic dispatch, not on the basis of provid ing

 4 operating reserves.  And, the actual number of st arts

 5 reflects operating reserves as well.  So -- and, the

 6 Company has stated that the majority of the hours  that

 7 it was dispatched in 2010 was for operating reser ves.

 8 Hence, we see this much bigger actual start numbe r.

 9 So, that's number one.

10 The operating reserves, they can be

11 running at a loss, not at a profit, during that t ime,

12 but they receive compensation for their variable costs.

13 So, that compensation is going -- it's not going to

14 impact the "Net Revenue" line.  So, the starts th at

15 resulted in operating reserve service should not affect

16 the net revenue.

17 What's causing that difference, we

18 think, is a modeling problem.  It's a modeling pr oblem.

19 The model is not predicting the net revenues.  An d, how

20 can we say that?  Because we know what the actual  net

21 revenues are.  So, the model is predicting someth ing

22 much greater.  So, that difference is, we think,

23 attributable to -- we know it's attributable to s ome

24 errors, because this "Expected Value" line does n ot
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 1 reflect correction of the two errors that we ment ioned.

 2 And, potentially, it could reflect other differen ces

 3 that we haven't yet been able to identify.

 4 Q. There was discussion of the changes you made to  your

 5 testimony to remove the specific references to

 6 injection system -- well, injection systems, I gu ess,

 7 and yet the dollar figure that might be incurred

 8 remained in place.  Are you making any assumption  that

 9 there will be investments of the magnitude that a re in

10 your testimony coming forward in Newington in the  near

11 future?

12 A. (McCluskey) No.  Our position was that the Comp any, in

13 its modeling, should have taken into account the

14 potential -- should have taken into account the

15 potential for this Utility MACT rule to apply to

16 Newington.  And, since the -- we were expecting s ome

17 kind of probability calculation.  So, that probab ility

18 might have reflected a very low percentage of cha nce

19 that that rule might apply to this company.  And,  it

20 might reflect a very high percentage.  And, depen ding

21 on what capital costs would be incurred, if it di d

22 apply, then that would be reflected in the analys is.

23 We just feel this is a deterministic-type calcula tion.

24 We think the Company should have modeled some cos ts
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 1 associated with this rule.  We now know that ther e's a

 2 possibility that it may not apply.  But, at the t ime,

 3 we did not know that.  And, we think, for consist ency,

 4 since the whole study is based on uncertainty, wh y did

 5 we use a deterministic number for capital expendi tures?

 6 Why didn't they make some assumptions, high, low,  base

 7 case, for this kind of risk that the Company is f acing?

 8 And, the same would apply to what's called the "C ooling

 9 Water Rule" as well.

10 So, we just felt that the model was

11 unbalanced, in that it did not include certain co sts,

12 where we think there's a non-zero probability of them

13 incurring those costs.  So, for consistency, if t his is

14 done in the future, we think that it would be bet ter to

15 apply some kind of probability calculation to the  likes

16 of capital expenditures, and Northern Pass, some

17 accountable treatment to that.

18 A. (Arnold) Madam Chairman?

19 Q. Yes, please.

20 A. (Arnold) I agree with that.  I should have adde d that

21 to my comments.  I would hope to see -- would hav e

22 hoped to see that type of uncertainty captured in  this

23 model.  I think that that's typical, from my poin t of

24 view.
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 1 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  That's

 2 it for me for questions.  Anything further?  Comm issioner

 3 Harrington.

 4 CMSR. HARRINGTON:  Just one follow-up

 5 question.

 6 BY CMSR. HARRINGTON: 

 7 Q. On the -- and, this has to do going back to Pag e 57 of

 8 the original of the testimony.  On the bottom lin e

 9 there, where you were just talking about the "Net

10 profit and loss", and it shows 2005 to 2010, and every

11 year there there's a loss.  And, then, when we ge t to

12 the -- looking to the future in the model, it wou ld

13 appear that every year there's going to be a net

14 benefit.

15 Now, can you account for -- what would

16 you -- what would you say accounts for the differ ence

17 between the two?  Is there a physical change here

18 that's occurring?  Or, is it simply an error in t he

19 modeling or an error in the assumption, whatever?

20 Because it seems to be a fairly radical performan ce

21 change, we know it's showing substantial losses f or

22 2005-2010, and then every year going into the fut ure it

23 shows net gains.

24 A. (McCluskey) The answer is that they're two radi cally
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 1 different calculations.  The calculation that's d one on

 2 Exhibit 7 is a calculation that takes into accoun t

 3 what's being referred to as that "fixed costs",

 4 depreciation, and return, and compared those, alo ng

 5 with all the other variable costs, against their

 6 revenues.  Going forward, we have no fixed costs in

 7 there.  So, we're just comparing, essentially, th e same

 8 market revenues, with only the variable costs.  S o,

 9 obviously, it's going to be much easier to record  a

10 profit going forward because of the way we've act ually

11 done that calculation.

12 Q. But, in reality, those fixed costs that you tal ked

13 about in the future years would still be paid by

14 ratepayers, wouldn't they?

15 A. (McCluskey) They would.  But they're just not r eflected

16 in that particular -- in the methodology for the

17 Continuing Unit Operation Study.

18 CMSR. HARRINGTON:  All right.  Thank

19 you.

20 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Commissioner Scott,

21 another question?

22 CMSR. SCOTT:  Yes.  Excuse me.  

23 BY CMSR. SCOTT: 

24 Q. Clearly, well, at least in my view, the fact of  the

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
   139

 1 Newington Station is dual fuel seems to provide a

 2 positive, as far as a hedge against radical chang es in

 3 gas prices, that type of thing.  And, I'm struggl ing

 4 with how -- your understanding is how is that

 5 quantified?  And, I guess I would ask maybe Mr. A rnold

 6 to start.  You talk about, it sounds like your

 7 preferred method is using a probabilistic analysi s.

 8 Does that type of -- the fact that fuel diversity  is

 9 there, does that factor into that?  So, can I ass ume

10 that, in that type of analysis, the fact that it' s dual

11 fueled is valued?

12 A. (Arnold) Yes.  I would say this is the right ty pe of

13 analysis if you want to capture that benefit.  An d, I

14 think you do.  You, obviously, do want to capture  that

15 benefit.  And, that's important for this type of plant.

16 So, this is the right general approach to use.  

17 (Court reporter interruption.) 

18 BY THE WITNESS: 

19 A. (Arnold) A stochastic approach, where you're lo oking at

20 the potential for changes in the alternate cost o f

21 fuels, or their alternate temporarily -- temporar ily

22 unavailable, as unavailability, as we've heard ca n

23 happen.  So, it's not only costs you want to mode l and

24 the possibility is there for the costs to get out  of
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 1 synch.  But we've also heard that there's a poten tial

 2 for one or the other fuel to be temporarily unava ilable

 3 or for it to spike.  There's all kinds of reasons  why

 4 that can happen.

 5 Q. Did you see evidence that that was valued, if y ou will,

 6 in the analysis?

 7 A. (Arnold) Based on what I've read, the model cap tured

 8 the -- at least some potential for deviations in

 9 natural gas prices, versus fuel oil and residual fuel

10 oil prices.  I can't remember that it captures th e

11 potential for a pipeline outage.  That, to me, is  a

12 dramatic event.

13 A. (McCluskey) And, I'll just say -- I think I'll say,

14 similar to Mr. Arnold, there's certainly a lot of

15 discussion about the option value, the hedge valu e.

16 But, exactly how it got reflected in the numbers,  I

17 couldn't tell you.

18 CMSR. SCOTT:  Okay.  Thank you.

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.

20 Redirect, Mr. Speidel?  

21 MR. SPEIDEL:  Yes.  Very limited

22 redirect.  Let's get right to it.

23 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

24 BY MR. SPEIDEL: 
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 1 Q. Now, let's begin with Mr. Arnold.  Mr. Arnold, we heard

 2 from Ms. Knowlton, she asked a query as to whethe r you

 3 had heard that PSNH, the Company, had reached a

 4 non-disclosure agreement with Jacobs.  Now, subje ct to

 5 check, are you aware of the fact that you work fo r

 6 Jacobs Consultancy, and yet there is a sister com pany

 7 called "Jacobs Engineering"?  Are you aware of th at?

 8 A. (Arnold) Yes.

 9 Q. Okay.  Now, subject to check, would you think t hat it's

10 reasonable that Jacobs Engineering, in fact, is t he

11 entity that has been retained by PSNH to look int o the

12 Bow power plant?

13 A. (Arnold) Subject to check, yes.

14 Q. Given that it's related to a major scrubber pro ject?

15 A. (Arnold) Subject to check, yes.

16 Q. Okay.  Now, I'm going to approach the Bench to show you

17 Staff Exhibit 9.  And, this is the last version o f a

18 non-disclosure agreement that was sent by you to

19 Mr. Jerry Eaton of the Company on July the 15th.  Would

20 you take a look and tell me who the two signatory

21 parties are for this non-disclosure agreement?

22 A. (Arnold) They are "John Bitler", of Levitan &

23 Associates, and "Carlos Camacho", of Jacobs

24 Consultancy.
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 1 Q. You don't see a signatory line for PSNH there?

 2 A. (Arnold) No, I don't.

 3 Q. Thank you.  Now, Mr. Arnold, there were a serie s of

 4 questions from Ms. Knowlton on the topic of the S cope

 5 of Work that had been issued on March the 31st, i s that

 6 correct?

 7 A. (Arnold) That's correct.

 8 Q. Do you have that handy, under PSNH Exhibit 3?

 9 A. (Arnold) No, I'll have to dig it out.  I apolog ize.

10 Okay.

11 Q. All right.

12 A. (Arnold) I'm there.

13 Q. And, if you could just turn to Page 2 of that S cope of

14 Work, and the second paragraph.

15 A. (Arnold) Yes.

16 Q. Now, I'm just going to ask a few questions abou t this,

17 very short questions.  There is a sentence there that

18 mentions the fact that "a Staff member of the New

19 Hampshire Public Utilities Commission, [together]  with

20 Jacobs Consultancy", and namely you, would "visit

21 Levitan's offices [in Boston] to interview the

22 developers and operators of the modeling system w ith

23 the goal of resolving all remaining queries."  No w, you

24 are familiar with a specific company exhibit, and  that
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 1 would be PSNH 9, that is the confidential version  of

 2 the model description that Levitan had prepared a nd

 3 submitted on May 12th, 2012, is that right?

 4 A. (Arnold) That's right.

 5 Q. All right.  Now, did that modeling description answer

 6 all of your outstanding queries?

 7 A. (Arnold) No.  It did not.

 8 Q. And, did your visit, together with myself, Spei del, and

 9 Mr. McCluskey, at Levitan headquarters in Boston,

10 answer all of your outstanding inquiries?

11 A. (Arnold) No.  I still couldn't answer George's

12 questions.  

13 Q. And, that was the visit of June the 3rd.  And, you do

14 recall the Staff Exhibit Number 10, my e-mail to

15 representatives of Levitan, and also to represent atives

16 of the Company, stating that we ought to move alo ng a

17 non-disclosure agreement, so that you would have

18 additional access to information, is that correct ?

19 A. (Arnold) That's correct.

20 Q. And, so, given that, was a non-disclosure agree ment

21 executed before the second visit in mid June of 2 011?

22 A. (Arnold) No.  It was not.

23 Q. And, was your set of inquiries answered as part  of that

24 second visit in toto?
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 1 A. (Arnold) No.

 2 Q. So, let's take a look at the next sentence afte r that

 3 phrase, "the goal of resolving all remaining quer ies",

 4 in the Scope of Work, on Page 2.  And, could you just

 5 read the first part of the following sentence tha t

 6 begins "Jacobs' evaluation".

 7 A. (Arnold) Okay.  "Jacobs' evaluation of LAI's mo deling

 8 system will also be informed by a back-casting

 9 exercise" --

10 Q. That's fine.  Thank you.  So, "also be informed ".  So,

11 the back-casting exercise was not the be-all and

12 end-all of your inquiries, correct, as part of th e

13 Scope of Work?  

14 A. (Arnold) Correct.

15 Q. It would be an additional element, in addition to

16 having all of your queries answered, is that righ t?

17 A. (Arnold) That's correct.

18 Q. Very good.  Thank you very much.  Mr. McCluskey , did

19 the Company's Exhibit 9, the confidential model

20 description, the visit of June the 3rd to Levitan

21 headquarters, and the subsequent mid June visit, answer

22 all of your inquiries about the modeling?

23 A. (McCluskey) No, it didn't.

24 Q. Thank you very much.  All right.  Mr. McCluskey , if a
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 1 non-disclosure agreement had been reached between  the

 2 Company and Jacobs on or after July the 15th, as

 3 indicated by Staff Exhibit 9, that was the last

 4 submission that had been sent from Mr. Arnold to the

 5 attention of the Company, if a non-disclosure agr eement

 6 had been reached, and additional data provided to  Staff

 7 by Levitan and PSNH had been in play, do you thin k it

 8 would have been likely that Staff would have requ ested

 9 an extension of the July 27th filing deadline for  Staff

10 testimony?

11 A. (McCluskey) It's certainly possible.  It's very  common

12 for procedural schedules to be changed, if -- for  a

13 whole host of reasons.  But, if we'd been making

14 considerable process -- progress in understanding  how

15 the model operated, and we required more time to

16 provide that description in our testimony, I'm al most

17 certain we would have suggested a change in the

18 schedule.

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Mr. Speidel, before

20 you go further, it seems to me that last question  was

21 something that could have been brought out on dir ect, it

22 isn't appropriate for redirect.  So, if you have anything

23 else that truly responds to things that have come  up

24 through questioning by other parties --
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 1 MR. SPEIDEL:  Sure.  Just a few more. 

 2 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  -- or the

 3 Commissioners, you may do so.

 4 MR. SPEIDEL:  Very good.

 5 BY MR. SPEIDEL: 

 6 Q. So, in any event, we can leave that as complete .  We

 7 had heard some discussion earlier, the Company ha d

 8 inquired on the Staff testimony that had been pre sented

 9 on Page 28 of Staff Exhibit 1.  And, that related  to

10 certain information that had been secured by Mr.

11 McCluskey through some informal consultations of

12 Jonathan Peress of the Conservation Law Foundatio n.

13 Now, Mr. McCluskey, do you recall that Mr. Peress  has

14 private industry experience in pollution control with

15 power plants in the Hudson River Valley?  

16 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'm going to object.  I

17 don't believe that Mr. Peress has ever presented here as a

18 fact witness with regard to his background.  So, I would

19 move to strike that question.

20 MR. SPEIDEL:  Well, the Company made an

21 inquiry about the providence of this information.   And,

22 I'm just establishing that Mr. McCluskey was just ified in

23 asking an informal consultation piece of informat ion from

24 Mr. Peress.

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
   147

 1 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Well, you were also

 2 testifying to what Mr. Peress's background is.  S o, if you

 3 can ask the question in -- if you want to ask him  why he

 4 turned to Mr. Peress, that's fine.  

 5 MR. SPEIDEL:  Sure.

 6 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  But let's not --

 7 but, really, really, we are trying to -- first of  all, I'm

 8 concerned about the court reporter.  We've been g oing an

 9 awfully long time.

10 MR. SPEIDEL:  Okay.

11 BY MR. SPEIDEL: 

12 Q. Well, Mr. McCluskey, did you consult with Mr. P eress

13 with the understanding that he had some knowledge  of

14 this issue?

15 A. (McCluskey) Yes.  Mr. Peress works for CLF.  An d, it's

16 well known that CLF has extensive experience in

17 environmental issues in the New England region.  And, I

18 thought that was a good source to talk about thes e kind

19 of systems and typical costs.

20 Q. Very good.  Now, you also heard from Ms. Knowlt on, she

21 asked a series of questions related to some

22 consultations that involved you and myself and

23 Ms. Menard, regarding certain reproduction data s ets

24 that would involve the Bloomberg data, but not

                {DE 10-261} {05-10-12/Day 5}



             [WITNESS PANEL:  McCluskey~Arnold]
   148

 1 specifically present it.  And, also, there were

 2 questions about whether Staff had accepted that o ffer,

 3 and whether you recalled them, you said you didn' t

 4 recall the offer specifically.  But, assuming for  the

 5 sake of argument that the offer had been made, wo uldn't

 6 you agree that there might be a potential problem  with

 7 being able to independently verify the voracity o f such

 8 a schedule, in that you wouldn't have access to t he

 9 Bloomberg data itself that underlie this producti on of

10 the schedule?

11 A. (McCluskey) Since I can't recall the offer, I c an't

12 recall why we might have rejected the offer, if w e did.

13 Q. Okay.

14 A. (McCluskey) So, that's as much as I can say.

15 Q. Very good.  Thank you.  Now, I have just one la st

16 question, and either Mr. Arnold or Mr. McCluskey can

17 answer it.  There were some discussion of whether  "net

18 present value "low-balls" or might underestimate the

19 value of a given asset, in that you have an effec t

20 where you have a present year figure, and the

21 subsequent years' figures are reduced.  Now, gent lemen,

22 isn't it true that or would you agree with the

23 statement that net present value is a standard me asure

24 of the value of an industrial asset used in finan ce and
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 1 industry?

 2 MS. KNOWLTON:  I'm going to object to

 3 the form of the question.  I think it's a

 4 mischaracterization of the testimony.  I think it  was

 5 that, when presented as a yearly average, that it  wasn't a

 6 fair representation of the net present value.

 7 BY MR. SPEIDEL: 

 8 Q. Well, then, in the alternative, would you agree  that a

 9 net present value incorporates a discount rate th at

10 reflects the opportunity cost of money on a going

11 forward basis?

12 A. (Arnold) Yes.

13 MR. SPEIDEL:  Thank you.  I have no

14 further questions.

15 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Let's go off the

16 record for a moment.

17 (Brief off-the-record discussion 

18 ensued.) 

19 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Let's excuse the

20 witnesses.  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  That

21 concludes the evidentiary portion of this proceed ing.  We

22 have a few procedural matters still to finalize.  Mr.

23 Patch, did you have an issue?

24 MR. PATCH:  To the extent it would be
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 1 helpful to the Commission, in the discussion of t he record

 2 request that I made this morning, I believe that

 3 Mr. Speidel had indicated that there had been a r eference

 4 during the first day.  And, I've located in the

 5 transcript, at Page 147, and this is of the after noon of

 6 Day 1.  And, I believe it's Lines 8 to 11, in res ponse to

 7 a question from Commissioner Scott, Mr. Large had  said

 8 that "I believe we're approaching a half million dollars

 9 in expenditures associated with the Continued Uni t

10 Operation Study."  So, I don't know if that's hel pful to

11 the Commission or not, but I just wanted to read you that

12 cite.

13 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Thank you.  We had

14 also recalled that testimony.  So, thank you for pulling

15 it out.  And, our determination is to deny the re quest for

16 the record request on a couple of bases.  The opp ortunity

17 to ask those questions was available earlier, unl ike

18 Ms. Knowlton's request, where the witness was on the

19 stand.  Also, the request that she made regarded updating

20 a data response.  And, so, it was already a matte r in

21 discovery that was fairly -- a request was fairly  made to

22 update it.  And, then, the third issue, as you no te, there

23 has already been some testimony of a general numb er, a

24 ballpark figure of a half million dollars.  So, w e will
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 1 not reserve an exhibit for that issue.

 2 Is there anything else before we discuss

 3 exhibits themselves?

 4 (No verbal response)  

 5 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Seeing nothing, then

 6 the exhibits have all been marked for identificat ion, with

 7 the opportunity for anyone to move to strike a pa rticular

 8 document and not make them whole exhibits and oth ers be

 9 made full exhibits to the docket.  Is there any r equest

10 that any documents not be made full exhibits?

11 (No verbal response) 

12 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  Seeing none, then I

13 take it there's no objection to all of the identi fications

14 being stricken and everything being made a perman ent

15 record?

16 (No verbal response) 

17 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  Then,

18 the question of when record requests will be subm itted.

19 Some have started to come in, I know.  I haven't kept

20 track of -- I don't have a list of all of them at  quick

21 glance.  But are the parties who are responsible for

22 producing the data able to get those in by the en d of next

23 week, Friday, the 18th, I believe it is?

24 MS. KNOWLTON:  That's fine with the
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 1 Company.

 2 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  All right.  Let's do

 3 that.  And, obviously, earlier is also acceptable .

 4 All right.  We've agreed that closings

 5 will be done in the form of written briefs, to be

 6 submitted two weeks after the final transcript is

 7 produced.  And, we will send out a commission let ter with

 8 the actual date when that final transcript is rec eived.

 9 We're not -- it won't be raced next week, so it w ill be

10 certainly two weeks after next week, so it's thre e weeks.

11 But we'll get you the actual date that they are d ue.  And,

12 we agreed to a --

13 MS. HOLLENBERG:  Page limit.

14 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  -- page limit.  I

15 had the word "deadline".  That's a time limit.  T his is a

16 page limit, of 25 pages.  Is there anything else further?  

17 (No verbal response) 

18 CHAIRMAN IGNATIUS:  If not, I want to

19 thank everyone for slogging through a lot of long  days and

20 a lot of material.  And, trust us, we have it all , and

21 we'll be going through it all, as well as the wri tten

22 briefs.  So, thank you for your attention, and we  are

23 adjourned.

24 (Whereupon the hearing ended at 1:11 p.m.)  
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